

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

1-24-2024

# Strategies for Supporting Blockchain Technologies to Enable Resilient Systems

Patrick T. Horrigan Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Patrick Horrigan

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Ayegbeni Igonor, Committee Chairperson, Information Technology Faculty Dr. Cynthia Phillips, Committee Member, Information Technology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

## Abstract

## Strategies for Supporting Blockchain Technologies to Enable Resilient Systems

by

Patrick Thomas Horrigan

MS, University of Virginia, 2013

BA, University of Richmond, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Information Technology

Walden University

December 2023

Abstract

Blockchain technology is regarded as a transformative force in numerous industries and a pivotal innovation of the 21st century. The failure to adopt blockchain technologies can lead to increased resiliency events for information technology (IT) systems. The potential losses from resiliency events can be highly significant, with hourly costs of IT service outages ranging from hundreds of thousands to millions of United States dollars. Grounded in change management theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study was to explore strategies IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enhance system resilience. The participants were 4 IT professionals working in the United States with 8 years of experience supporting enterprise systems and blockchain technologies. Data were gathered through semi-structured interviews and an examination of organizational documents. The data were analyzed using thematic analysis, and three themes emerged: decentralization, privacy, and transaction speed. The key recommendation is for IT leaders to understand decentralization, its impact on resiliency and transaction speeds, and what type of data should be placed in blockchain technology when considering privacy and data availability. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce downtime in critical IT systems, including hospital systems, essential supply chains, and utility services, thereby contributing to more excellent operational stability.

## Strategies for Supporting Blockchain Technologies to Enable Resilient Systems

by

Patrick Thomas Horrigan

MS, University of Virginia, 2013

BA, University of Richmond, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Information Technology

Walden University

December 2023

# Dedication

I dedicate this study to my family, who supported me through this journey. Throughout this journey, I often leaned on my wife to give me the strength to move on. She did not doubt that I would accomplish this goal, which gave me the strength to move forward.

# Acknowledgments

Thank you, Walden faculty, for pushing me harder than I have ever experienced. The feedback given in every assignment has built me into the resilient academic I also wanted to be. Thank you, Doctor Carpenter, Doctor Igonor, and Doctor Phillips, for the insight and patience you have offered and instilled in me.

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vi
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement1
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question4
Interview Questions4
Theoretical or Conceptual Framework5
Definition of Terms6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations7
Delimitations
Significance of the Study
Contribution to Information Technology Practice
Implications for Social Change9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature10
Change Management Theory and Organizations12
Change Management Theory and Information Technology

# Table of Contents

Supporting Theories	
Contrasting Theories	
Criticism of the Change Management Theory	
Blockchain Overview	
Current Blockchain Technology Uses	
Traditional Resiliency Strategies	
Blockchain Resiliency Strategies	
Transition and Summary	50
Section 2: The Project	
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	53
Participants	56
Research Method and Design	58
Method	
Research Design	60
Population and Sampling	63
Ethical Research	65
Data Collection	66
Instruments	66
Data Collection Technique	68
Data Organization Techniques	
Data Analysis Technique	71

Reliability and Validity	73
Reliability	74
Validity	75
Credibility	76
Transferability	77
Confirmability/Dependability	78
Transition and Summary	79
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	80
Introduction	80
Presentation of the Findings	80
Theme 1: Decentralization	81
Theme 2: Privacy	86
Theme 3: Transaction Speed	
Applications to Professional Practice	97
Implications for Social Change	100
Individuals and Communities	101
Organizations and Institutions	101
Cultures and Societies	102
Improving Public Health Outcomes	102
Empowering Consumers	102
Recommendations for Action	103
Recommendations for Further Study	106

Reflections	
Summary and Study Conclusions	
References	

# List of Tables

Table 1. Blockchain Versus Centralized Databases	
--	--

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Change management theory Iceberg	. 14
Figure 2. Time Management Process	. 15
Figure 3. Kotter's Eight Step Change Model	. 22
Figure 4. McKinsey's 7s Model	. 26
Figure 5. Action research	. 30
Figure 6. Blockchain	. 36
Figure 7. Smart Contract Interaction	. 38

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

#### **Background of the Problem**

Many leaders and technology professionals view blockchain as the next significant technological advancement after the internet. Blockchain is a shared, decentralized, secure, and unchangeable digital ledger that brings increased trust and efficiency to business networks (Weber, 2018). Some popular cryptocurrency technologies that run on blockchains include Bitcoin and Ethereum. Enterprise blockchains are hailed as the key to secure and transparent processing of complex transactions within and between organizations (Goldsby & Hanisch, 2022). The resiliency of these distributed networks is one of the benefits many technologists wish to explore within existing platforms. The potential losses from downtime include hourly costs of information technology (IT) service outages ranging from hundreds of thousands to even millions of U.S. dollars (Wang & Franke, 2020). With the potential resiliency that blockchain technologies can offer existing platforms, IT professionals must have a solid understanding of the strategies needed to support these technologies, especially in health care and supply chain systems. In this study, I explored the strategies enabling IT professionals to use blockchain technologies to support system resiliency.

#### **Problem Statement**

IT professionals are responsible for ensuring resiliency within the platforms that they support. However, the existing technologies that organizations use are still resulting in outages. For example, the U.S. economy had a US\$ 20-55 billion loss due to severe weather-related outages from 2003 to 2012 (Taimoor et al., 2020). When considering the types of systems that could benefit from the resiliency built into blockchain technologies, the health care sector suffers from inefficiencies in data handling due to resiliency and data sharing between organizations (Alzahrani et al., 2022). The general IT problem that prompted me to search the literature is that many organizations lack strategies that enable IT professionals to use blockchain technologies to support system resiliency. The specific IT problem is that some IT professionals lack strategies to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems.

#### **Purpose Statement**

This qualitative, multiple case study was conducted to examine the strategies IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems. The population group of this study is IT professionals in the blockchain industry from the development and infrastructure teams within the United States. The findings from this study may benefit organizations by showing examples of resiliency gaps within existing IT systems and the potential to use blockchain technology to mitigate the risk. This may also indicate the need for business leaders to build a resilient IT architecture that addresses the potential gaps in the IT infrastructure and processes. Social change includes reducing the downtime of vital information technology platforms, such as hospital systems, critical supply chains, and utility services. Social change may also involve shifts in consumer behavior, evolving societal expectations, changes in regulations and policy, or emerging technological trends and innovations.

#### Nature of the Study

When considering the appropriate research method, I looked at qualitative,

quantitative, and mixed methods. I thought of these approaches in the context of my study. As a result of my analysis, I determined that a qualitative research method was the best fit for my study. This approach has a rich history of helping researchers appreciate revelatory cases, build grounded theories, and coin new concepts to describe emerging phenomena (Monteiro et al., 2022). When harnessed to their full potential, qualitative research methods support theorizing, the problematization of rigid or engrained ways of thinking, questioning of taken-for-granted knowledge, exploration of little-known phenomena, samples, or context, and co-creation of learning and sense-making, among many other purposes (Köhler et al., 2022). In other words, engaging qualitative methodology allows for expanding the field with research questions that are more general and open than adjusting the emerging story throughout data collection as new information comes forward (Clare, 2022). In contrast, by integrating qualitative and quantitative procedures, mixed methods research offers the power of numbers and stories for investigating complex social and behavioral questions (Hou, 2021). Mixed-method research is a quantitative methodology that requires countable research objects, whereas qualitative methodology describes and interprets its research objects (Stoecker & Avila, 2021). I chose a qualitative study over a mixed method study because it allowed for a deeper, more detailed exploration of the subjective experiences and meanings, which were critical for understanding the nuances of the research problem.

I chose a multiple case study as the most appropriate for my research topic. A case study is used to explore a real-time phenomenon within its naturally occurring context, considering that context will create a difference (Stoecker & Avila, 2021). The

case study approach facilitates the investigation and understanding of the underlying principles in the real-world phenomena involved in constructing the future vision in the backcasting study (Aalbers et al., 2020). The case study design supports my research goals because I intended to understand the resiliency practices of IT professionals.

I also considered other qualitative approaches like ethnography, phenomenology, and narrative research. The ethnography approach is used to explore complex cultural norms and phenomena through long-term engagement in the field of research (Andreassen et al., 2020). My research focused on IT professionals' experience supporting resilience, which is unrelated to cultural norms. Additionally, phenomenology focuses on the experiences of individuals, but I was not focused on the lived experiences but rather the resiliency practices of IT professionals. The narrative design systematically codes individual differences in how they tell their stories about significant life events to understand how they create meaning and purpose (Grysman & Lodi-Smith, 2019). My study did not focus on an individual's life but on their professional technology experience.

#### **Research Question**

What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What is your current role with your company?
- 2. How significant is IT resiliency to your company?
- 3. How does your current role contribute to resiliency?

- 4. Are you familiar with distributed blockchain networks?
- 5. Are you familiar with the concepts of smart contracts on blockchain networks?
- 6. What are resiliency issues you have encountered in the past?
- 7. What are your responsibilities when a resiliency event occurs?
- 8. What are the impacts of these resiliency events?
- 9. How do you think blockchain platforms can resolve these resiliency issues?
- 10. Why do you think these resiliency events occur?
- 11. What type of architecture is used within these platforms to enable resiliency?
- 12. Why would you consider or not consider blockchain technology a solution to resiliency issues?
- 13. What procedures should organizations consider when migrating to blockchain technologies?
- 14. Are there any other thoughts you have on this topic?

#### **Theoretical or Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework I applied to my study was the change management (change iceberg) theory, developed by Kruger. The logical connections between the framework presented and the nature of my study include the challenges IT professionals face when adopting new technologies within organizations, such as blockchain. It requires massive organizational changes to adopt new technologies like blockchain. This change must be initiated at the top of leadership to profoundly alter the organizations' underlying technologies and directly impact the management of perceptions and power and politics management (Kruger, 2022). In this context, leadership is crucial in addressing overt challenges and instigating and sustaining transformative shifts in values and principles, ensuring successful adoption and alignment with the new technological paradigm (Bedrii, 2020). Within this submerged domain, leadership emerges as a pivotal force, with the meticulous orchestration of the overt technological transition and the concurrent management of subterranean shifts in organizational perceptions and politics. Within this underlying layer, comprised of attitudes, fears, and organizational culture, significant challenges to, or facilitators of, technological adoption reside. One of the key benefits of blockchain technology could be the resiliency they build into systems. However, IT professionals will need to have strategies to support blockchain technologies, and this may only be accomplished by leadership influence from the perspective of management of perceptions and power and politics management.

#### **Definition of Terms**

*Blockchain:* Blockchain is a linked arrangement of records, called blocks, each block stores the previous block's hash, timestamp, and transactions, and the instance of linked blocks are replicated on every node in a network (Sreenu et al., 2022).

*Bitcoin:* Bitcoin blockchain application is a public peer-to-peer payment application that stores the transaction history on a digital blockchain database and is independent of an intermediary, such as a national bank (Mattke et al., 2021).

*Cryptocurrencies:* A digital cash that uses cryptography to secure its transactions and verify the transfer of digital assets through blockchain and over the internet without using a centralized banking system (Andriole, 2020).

*Digital ledger:* A record of transactions maintained by consensus among a network of peer-to-peer nodes that may be geographically dispersed (Kuhn et al., 2019).

*Ethereum:* Ethereum is the successor to Bitcoin and is a decentralized, censorship-resistant, incorruptible platform that runs on smart contracts (Sabalionis et al., 2021).

*Smart contracts:* Smart contracts are deterministic computer programs that may be invoked when a transaction is recorded on the blockchain, affecting the transaction's outcome (Neiheiseret et al., 2023).

### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

## Assumptions

Assumptions are some aspects of a topic or research that do not have evidence of validity (Helmich et al., 2015; Hufford, 1996). In this study, I assumed the IT professionals I interviewed have experience supporting infrastructure and developing applications within blockchain technologies. This experience would lead to lessons on how they enabled resiliency in these platforms. I also assumed that they would participate in a 1-hour interview and know existing strategies to increase resiliency in systems. Another assumption I made is that companies would grant me access to documentation showing resiliency strategies in their organizations.

### Limitations

When considering assumptions, researchers usually have control over this aspect. However, with a limitation, the researcher does not have control, which may directly impact the study. Limitations of any study concerned potential weaknesses that were usually out of the researcher's control and were closely associated with the chosen research design (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2019). One of the risks of a qualitative study is that some participants might have answered the interview questions in a manner that pleased the researcher, which is considered a limitation in case study research (Yin, 2014). Since I performed a multiple case study with four participants, this was a limitation because I might not have obtained enough research data.

## Delimitations

The use of delimitations in my study ensured that my research was focused while also reinforcing my objectives. Delimitations are the boundaries or limits of a researcher's work so that the study's aims and objectives do not become impossible to achieve (Theofanidis & Fountouki, 2019). One of the delimitations in my study was that I only performed four cases with IT professionals from the development and infrastructure teams. These IT professionals had experience supporting enterprise applications and were restricted to the United States. Another delimitation was that the IT professionals were required to have at least eight of experience supporting enterprise applications with blockchain experience. I explored IT professionals' strategies to enable resilient systems.

#### Significance of the Study

#### **Contribution to Information Technology Practice**

This study was significant because the results provide examples of resiliency gaps within existing IT systems and the potential to use blockchain technology to mitigate the risk. The results indicated the need for business leaders to build a resilient IT architecture addressing potential IT infrastructure and processes gaps. This led to support strategies for blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems and boosted the body of knowledge within organizations.

The change management theory, often called the change iceberg, underscores the importance of looking beyond the apparent, superficial aspects of organizational change. Though the observable changes—like those within executive leadership—are usually measured in cost, quality, and time, the theory posits that deeper, hidden aspects play a critical role in successful change implementation. These less visible facets, which include shifts in teams' behaviors and values, can significantly influence the redistribution of power and political dynamics within the organization. This understanding is crucial, especially when considering the adoption of novel technologies like blockchain, which promises operational efficiency and demands a transformation in underlying organizational culture and values. Grounded in Kruger's change management principles, organizations can navigate the multifaceted challenges of change, ensuring surface-level and profound adjustments align for greater resilience (Bedrii, 2020).

#### **Implications for Social Change**

This study provides best practices for supporting resilient platforms using blockchain technology. Some of the industries that could benefit from this enhanced resiliency include health care, vital supply chains, and utility services. For instance, securely storing personal health information is crucial to ensuring patients receive quality care in health care settings. Blockchain technologies could lead to more resilient platforms as the technology is distributed across numerous nodes within an organization. Personal health records could be securely shared among various organizations, resulting in higher care since health care providers can access a complete patient history. Patients and health care organizations are frustrated by the multiple obstacles in obtaining current, real-time patient information (Alzahrani et al., 2022).

Another industry that could benefit from the resiliency of blockchain technology is critical supply chain systems. One example of such a system is a vaccine delivery network for medical facilities. These supply chain systems necessitate the transportation of vaccines in temperature-controlled vehicles. Blockchain technology could help ensure vaccines are delivered on time over vast areas, such as the United States. According to the Department of Health and Human Services, 7 billion people require, on average, one to two doses, totaling 15 billion doses for equitable distribution worldwide (Wang et al., 2020). Amidst this, vaccine wastage amounts to 20 to 30 percent due to cold storage and logistics disruptions during transit (Gupta et al., 2022). The social impact highlights the importance of the resiliency of critical data used in health care and critical supply chain management systems, as well as the potential for public blockchains to facilitate reliable data retrieval, ultimately benefiting society as a whole.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

In gathering the critical literature for this study, I considered the technology of blockchain and the objective of using blockchain to increase resiliency in existing applications. This led me to focus on two important keywords: blockchain and resiliency. Utilizing these keywords, I collected relevant literature from various sources, including the Walden University Library, Google Scholar, OpenAI, and references from other academic papers. I focused primarily on peer-reviewed journal articles published within the last 5 years. However, there were instances in the research when I referred to books within the Walden University curriculum and articles older than 5 years to provide a clear, foundational understanding of a concept rather than to examine a phenomenon within business or technology. This comprehensive approach to literature gathering ensured a well-rounded knowledge of the subject matter and provided a solid foundation for further analysis and discussion.

In total, I collected 161 articles and 14 books for the literature review, of which 148 were peer-reviewed articles, using the Ulrich search engine to verify their authenticity. As stated earlier, my primary key terms were resiliency and blockchain. Numerous articles focused on one of the topics but not necessarily both within a single work. More broad terms used to find relevant articles included *change management* theory, downtime, change iceberg, and strategies. To refine the search, I employed these terms: blockchain applications, enterprise platforms, project management, support, IT support, operations, organizational strategy, and outages. While searching with these terms, I identified a recurring theme: Organizations had to change the underlying technology to address weaknesses within enterprise platforms. This theme was prominent within the health care, supply chain, and utility industries, where system uptime is crucial for meeting user needs. The overarching theme discovered within these articles is that current enterprise systems are not adequately addressing users' needs in terms of resiliency, and IT professionals lack the strategies to support new technologies that could potentially resolve this issue. This insight highlights the importance of developing effective strategies and embracing innovative technologies to enhance resiliency across

various industries.

This literature review allowed me to examine existing enterprise systems and the ways in which IT professionals support these systems from both development and infrastructure teams' perspectives. Drawing on my experience supporting applications from an infrastructure standpoint, I ensured that the strategies discussed were viable and executable within an enterprise organization. The literature review is divided into three sections. The first part delves into the change management theory and the adoption of new technology, the second part offers an overview of blockchain technology and its existing applications, and the third part investigates current resiliency practices and how blockchain could enhance resiliency. These three sections collectively address the change management theory and its potential role in driving organizational changes toward utilizing blockchain technology to support resilient systems. This comprehensive analysis demonstrates the significance of understanding and adopting new technologies, such as blockchain, in strengthening the resiliency of enterprise systems in various sectors.

#### **Change Management Theory and Organizations**

The change management theory, also known as the change management iceberg, was initially proposed by Kruger (Bedrii, 2020). According to F. Kruger's observations, many project managers focus primarily on the visible part, overlooking the fact that the main levers of political power, project constraints, and group dynamics do not lie on the surface (Bedrii, 2020). The surface level encompasses the management of costs, quality, and time. In contrast, at the deep control level, management of changes and implementations occurs, including perceptions and culture, power, and political

dynamics. Fundamental changes necessitate profound shifts in team members' behavior and values, which, in turn, affect the redistribution of power. A fuzzy evaluation approach, integrated into the change management process, can effectively navigate the subtleties and the "hidden" elements beneath the project's surface (Cragg & Chraibi, 2020; Vlasenko et al., 2019). By incorporating such nuanced assessment techniques, project managers can gain a more comprehensive understanding of the factors influencing the success of change initiatives, thereby improving their ability to manage complex projects.

Kruger's change management theory is a valuable framework for understanding and managing change within organizations. By considering both the visible and hidden aspects of the iceberg, organizations can develop more effective change strategies and enhance the likelihood of success. This comprehensive approach to change management can help organizations adapt to new challenges, improve overall performance, and foster a culture of continuous improvement and growth. Figure 1 illustrates the surface and hidden layers of the change management theory iceberg, as depicted by Leflar (2021).

## Figure 1

Change management theory Iceberg



*Note*. From "Change Management for Risk Professionals," by J. Leflar, Copyright 2021 CRC Press.

The three aspects of the change management iceberg visible to leadership and project resources are time, cost, and quality. Time schedule control in projects is often perceived as activities carried out at the beginning of a project with limited information that can accurately predict each detailed activity's duration (Fewings & Henjewele, 2019). The time aspect is tracked when determining the progress of an initiative or project. Further, time management is a cluster of behavioral skills essential for the organization regarding project execution; empirical evidence suggests that effective time management is associated with strategies that allow individuals to negotiate competing demands (Adams & Blair, 2019). Time management can also be described as the selforganization of people toward successful career development and identifying opportunities and ways of self-organization for initiatives (Gladkova & Gordeev, 2022). Furthermore, time management does not require a person to learn to do as many things as possible in a short period, but it instead ensures that the person does what needs to be done, addressing the issues that require attention (Bucata et al., 2021). These interpretations of time management consider the behavioral aspects of completing either a project or an initiative. Though these elements of time may be necessary for the success of a project, it is important to balance competing aspects such as communication and project resources. Adopting a holistic approach to time management can help organizations enhance their productivity and optimize resources. Figure 2 illustrates the process of time management and the interpretation of requirements (Bucata et al., 2021):

#### Figure 2





Note. From "Time Management: The Basic Concern in the organization," by G. Bucata,A. Rizescu, L. & Barsan, 2021, *Journal of Defense Resources Management*, 12(2), p. 14.Quality is another aspect visible on the surface within the change management

theory. Quality can be defined as the totality of characteristics of an entity that bear on its ability to satisfy stated or implied needs; in simpler terms, quality refers to "fitness for use" or "meeting or exceeding customer expectations" (Kerzner, 2017). Quality can also be described as the process of ensuring that the project delivers the expected results and meets the requirements and expectations of the stakeholders (Mishra et al., 2020). Maintaining high-quality standards is essential for the successful implementation of projects, as it contributes to stakeholder satisfaction and the overall value of the project outcomes. Furthermore, quality management in projects often involves setting clear objectives, establishing suitable processes, and continuously monitoring and improving performance. By prioritizing quality, organizations can minimize risks, reduce costs, and enhance their reputation in the long term, ultimately leading to more successful projects and satisfied stakeholders.

The final aspect on the surface of the change management theory iceberg is cost. Cost management encompasses the processes required to ensure a project is completed within the approved budget, which includes resource planning, cost estimation, budgeting, and cost control (Project Management Institute, 2017). In the context of the change management theory, understanding and managing project costs is essential for successfully implementing change initiatives within organizations (Krueger, 2017). Effective cost management can help organizations minimize risks associated with project overruns and enhance overall efficiency in the change process (Kerzner, 2017). Visible cost elements, such as labor, materials, and equipment, are relatively straightforward to quantify and manage. However, hidden cost elements, such as the impact of change on organizational culture, power dynamics, and employee morale, can be more challenging to measure and control (Leflar, 2021). Organizations should be aware of the change process's potential direct (e.g., personnel, technology) and indirect (e.g., lost productivity, turnover) costs when implementing change initiatives (Mishra et al., 2020). To effectively manage project costs concerning the change management theory, organizations should adopt a comprehensive approach that considers both the visible and hidden aspects of change:

- Establish a realistic project budget: A well-defined budget should consider the direct and indirect costs of the change initiative, including the potential impact on organizational culture and employee morale (Project Management Institute, 2017).
- 2. Implement effective cost control measures: Regular monitoring and control of project costs can help organizations identify potential issues early in the change process, enabling them to take corrective action and minimize the risk of cost overruns (Kerzner, 2017).
- 3. Engage stakeholders in the change process: By involving stakeholders in the development and implementation of change initiatives, organizations can foster a sense of ownership and commitment, which can help reduce resistance to change and minimize indirect costs associated with employee turnover and lost productivity (Zacharias et al., 2021).
- 4. Foster a culture of continuous improvement: Encouraging continuous learning and progress can help organizations identify opportunities for cost

optimization and enhance overall efficiency in the change process (Mishra et al., 2020).

By adopting a comprehensive approach that considers the visible and hidden aspects of change, organizations can better manage project costs, minimize risks, and enhance overall project success.

In addition to time management, quality, and cost, the hidden layer of the iceberg comprises cultural issues within an organization. Culture is a unique characteristic of human groups created to fulfill the basic need for finding shared meanings of events (Zacharias et al., 2021). Organizational culture is a pattern of basic assumptions invented, discovered, or developed by a given group (Duan et al., 2023). As the group learns to cope with its problems of external adaptations and internal integration, that approach has is taught to new members as the correct way to perceive, think, and feel about these problems. This aspect of change management theory can be crucial to the success of a project or initiative within an organization. However, some leaders and project resources may not understand what makes a project or initiative successful. The leading causes of project failures include lack of commitment by top management, resistance to change, inadequate rewards and recognition mechanisms, inconsistent monitoring and control of the projects, and poor communication (Antony et al., 2022). Despite meeting cost, time, and quality criteria, projects can still suffer from stakeholder dissatisfaction, misaligned expectations, and limited benefits realization (Atkinson, 1999). Organizations must recognize the importance of addressing cultural issues and fostering a positive work environment, which can contribute significantly to successfully implementing change

initiatives and overall performance.

#### **Change Management Theory and Information Technology**

Change management theory may be a critical aspect of successful Information Technology (IT) implementation, as it assists organizations in navigating the complex process of adopting new technologies. Effective change management practices consider the human factor and organizational dynamics, recognizing that technology adoption is not merely a technical process but also involves shifts in corporate culture and individual behaviors (Madsen et al., 2020). As explained by Špundak & Šeric (2019), change management practices are essential for achieving desired results in IT implementation, as they address the people side of change, helping to overcome resistance and fostering a positive attitude towards new technology.

Adopting new technologies may require a comprehensive understanding of the interplay between various factors, such as user acceptance, training, and support. Technology Acceptance Model is a widely used framework to explain how individuals accept and use new technologies, emphasizing perceived usefulness and ease of use as the primary determinants of technology acceptance (Tarhini et al., 2021). Employing TAM within the context of change management theory can help organizations identify potential barriers and enablers to technology adoption, enabling them to design targeted interventions that facilitate a smoother transition to new IT systems (Hosseini et al., 2020).

In a study by Tiron-Tudor et al. (2021), this fusion of agile change management principles and change management theory is further explored in the context of accountancy organizations implementing blockchain technology. Their systematic literature review underscores the importance of agile principles in managing change, particularly in navigating the complexities of adopting cutting-edge technologies such as blockchain. They echo Denning's (2020) perspective on the value of cross-functional teams, iterative planning, and continuous feedback loops, emphasizing how these principles foster a culture of learning, adaptation, and innovation. Their findings suggest that by integrating these agile principles with change management practices, accountancy organizations, and potentially others, can better align technology implementations with strategic goals, enhancing the overall effectiveness and value of such initiatives.

Change management theory may be crucial in successful IT implementation by helping organizations navigate the complexities of adopting new technologies. It addresses technology adoption's human and organizational aspects, focusing on overcoming resistance and fostering a positive attitude towards new technology. The technology acceptance model can be employed within the change management theory context to identify barriers and enablers to technology adoption, allowing for targeted interventions and smoother transitions to new IT systems. The agile approach to change management has gained prominence in IT for its flexibility and responsiveness to evolving technology and market demands, emphasizing cross-functional teams, iterative planning, and continuous feedback loops. By integrating agile principles with change management theory, organizations can successfully adopt new technologies while aligning with strategic goals and enhancing IT implementation effectiveness.

#### **Supporting Theories**

To better understand the change management theory by Kruger, let's discuss some supporting theories. The first supporting theory is Lewin's change management Model. Kurt Lewin's model emphasizes three main stages of change - Unfreeze, Change, and Refreeze (Islam, 2023). The model emphasizes the need to prepare an organization for change, implement the difference, and solidify the organizational culture shift (Islam, 2023). Lewin's Change Management Model posits that successful change occurs by unfreezing the existing equilibrium, moving to a new state, and then refreezing the system in the desired shape, embedding the change within the organization's structures, processes, and culture (Serrat, 2017). In the context of organizational change, Lewin's model of change has been widely used as a basis for understanding change processes and designing change interventions (Bărbulescu & Boitan, 2019). Lewin's Change Management Model and Kruger's change management theory share similarities in their organizational approach to managing change. Both theories emphasize the importance of addressing barriers to change and recognizing that change is a process that requires attention at different stages. As this relates to adopting new technologies such as blockchain in an organization, it may be vital to address the barriers above with these two frameworks to change the enterprise applications.

Another theory similar to the change management theory by Kruger is Kotter's 8step change model. This theory offers a step-by-step approach to managing organizational change. The eight steps include creating a sense of urgency, forming a powerful coalition, creating a vision for change, communicating the vision, removing obstacles, creating short-term wins, building on the change, and anchoring the change in the corporate culture (Haas et al., 2019). A well-known change management model is Kotter's 8-Step Change Model, which includes: (1) creating a sense of urgency; (2) forming a guiding coalition; (3) creating a vision and strategy; (4) communicating the change vision; (5) empowering broad-based action; (6) generating short-term wins; (7) consolidating gains and producing more change; and (8) anchoring new approaches in the culture (Raineri, 2017). According to Ali et al. (2020), Kotter's 8-Step Change Model is a widely recognized framework for implementing organizational change. Below is a figure of Kotter's 8-Step Change Model from Laig and Abocejo (2021).

## Figure 3





*Note.* From "Change Management Process in a Mining Company: Kotter's 8-Step Change Model," by R. B. D. Laig & F. T. Abocejo, 2021, *Journal of Management, Economics, and Industrial Organization*, *5*(3), p. x.

Kotter's 8-Step Change Model and the change management theory by Kruger

address the process of managing change within organizations. However, they approach the topic from different perspectives and offer other frameworks for facilitating change. Kruger's change management theory focuses on identifying and overcoming barriers to change within organizations. It highlights the importance of understanding and addressing visible (cost, quality, and time) and invisible (perceptions, beliefs, and power dynamics) barriers to facilitate successful change initiatives. On the other hand, Kotter's 8-Step Change Model provides a more structured, step-by-step approach to implementing change. It emphasizes the importance of creating a sense of urgency, developing a clear vision and strategy, and securing buy-in from various stakeholders. The model also consolidates gains and embeds change within the organization's culture. While both models aim to help organizations navigate change, their emphasis and approach differ. Kruger's change management theory focuses on identifying and addressing barriers to change, while Kotter's 8-Step Change Model provides a more detailed, step-by-step process for implementing change. In practice, organizations may find value in combining elements of both models to create a more comprehensive change management strategy. From the perspective of changing the technical landscape of an organization, the change management theory by Kruger is focused on barriers that may better suit the adoption of new technologies such as blockchain.

Yet another theory that is similar to Kruger's theory is the ADKAR Model. ADKAR is an acronym representing the five sequential building blocks individuals experience during successful change (Hiatt & Creasey, 2018). The ADKAR model stands for Awareness, Desire, Knowledge, Ability, and Reinforcement. This model focuses on
individual and organizational change, emphasizing the need to address each component for successful implementation. Bhattacharya and Kaur (2019) argue The ADKAR Model is a practical and goal-oriented change management framework that helps individuals and organizations to manage change effectively.

The ADKAR Model and Kruger's change management theory emphasize managing and facilitating organizational change but approach the subject differently. While both theories address the challenge of managing change in organizations, Kruger's change management theory concentrates on identifying and overcoming barriers to change, while the ADKAR Model emphasizes the individual's experience and progression through the change process. These theories can complement each other, as understanding and addressing individual and organizational barriers to change are crucial for successful implementation. Again these theories may be critical to changing the technology within an organization to ensure high resiliency and meet a user's needs more wholly.

Another theory that supports the change management theory is Bridges' Transition Model. Developed by William Bridges, this model focuses on people's psychological transitions during change; the model consists of three stages - Ending, Neutral Zone, and New Beginning - and aims to help organizations manage the human aspects of change (Hemmeter et al., 2015). According to Fernandez and Shaw (2017), organizational change will not be successful unless individuals transition through each stage, adjusting to the new environment and their roles within the organization. Mikkelsen and Plotnikof (2021) describe the Bridges' Transition Model as focusing on the psychological aspects of change, emphasizing the need to manage the emotions and reactions of people during a transition. While both models aim to facilitate change within organizations, Kruger's change management theory targets organizational barriers and structures, while Bridges' Transition Model emphasizes the individual experience and psychological aspects of change. The lean toward Kruger's theory is present within the technology space since barriers from the structural level may be more beneficial in comparison to an individual.

The last theory to discuss is McKinsey 7S Framework and how it supports the change management theory by Kruger. Tom Peters and Robert Waterman developed the McKinsey 7S Framework, and this model addresses seven critical aspects of an organization that need to be aligned for successful change: Strategy, Structure, Systems, Shared Values, Skills, Style, and Staff (Subiyanto, R., & Hatammimi, J., 2023). The framework highlights the interconnectedness of these elements and the need for a broad approach to change management. Razali et al. (2018) argue the model posits that an organization's success depends on the alignment and interdependence of these factors. By focusing on the seven elements, leaders can take a holistic view of their organization, understanding how changes in one area may affect others (Zhang, Y., & Liu, Y. (2017). Furthermore, Al-Swidi and Al-Hosam (2018) contend that this framework suggests that these seven elements must be aligned and mutually reinforcing for an organization to perform well. Figure 4 of McKinsey 7'S Model from Faturrohman et al. (2018).

## Figure 4

McKinsey's 7s Model



*Note*. From "Application of RBV Theory and McKinsey 7'S Model on Start-up Company," by F. Faturrohman, T. Y. R. Syah, H. S. Darmansyah, & S. Pusaka, 2018, *Scientific Journal of PPI-UKM*, *5*(1), p. x.

Both models encourage a holistic view of organizational change, recognizing that addressing barriers or aligning elements in isolation may not be sufficient for achieving the desired outcome. The McKinsey 7S framework can be seen as complementary to Kruger's change management theory, as it provides a more detailed roadmap for assessing and aligning an organization's various components during change initiatives. Organizations can more effectively plan and execute change initiatives by considering both the barriers to change identified by Kruger's theory and the alignment of the seven elements in the McKinsey 7S Framework.

In order to better understand the change management theory by Kruger, it's essential to discuss supporting theories, such as Lewin's Change Management Model,

Kotter's 8-Step Change Model, the ADKAR Model, Bridges' Transition Model, and the McKinsey 7S Framework. Lewin's model emphasizes three main stages of change: Unfreeze, Change, and Refreeze, which prepares an organization for change, implements the change, and solidifies the organizational culture shift (Bărbulescu & Boitan, 2019; Serrat, 2017). Kotter's 8-Step Change Model offers a structured approach to managing organizational change, focusing on urgency, vision, communication, and anchoring change within the corporate culture (Ali et al., 2020; Raineri, 2017).

The ADKAR Model, focusing on Awareness, Desire, Knowledge, Ability, and Reinforcement, highlights the importance of addressing each component for successful change implementation (Bhattacharya & Kaur, 2019; Hiatt & Creasey, 2018). Bridges' Transition Model emphasizes people's psychological transitions during change, consisting of an Ending, Neutral Zone, and New Beginning, aiming to manage the human aspects of change (Fernandez & Shaw, 2017; Mikkelsen & Plotnikof, 2021). Finally, the McKinsey 7S Framework targets seven critical elements of an organization that need an alignment for successful change: Strategy, Structure, Systems, Shared Values, Skills, Style, and Staff (Al-Swidi & Al-Hosam, 2018; Zhang, Y., & Liu, Y., 2017).

These theories complement each other in their focus on managing change in organizations, offering various frameworks for facilitating change, addressing barriers, and understanding the individual and organizational experiences of change. Organizations may find value in combining elements of these models to create a comprehensive change management strategy, particularly when adopting new technologies, such as blockchain.

### **Contrasting Theories**

It is also essential that we discuss the theories that contrast with Kruger's change management theory. One contrasting theory is the Complexity Theory. Complexity theory challenges traditional linear and reductionist approaches to change management by emphasizing the inherent uncertainty, nonlinearity, and unpredictability of change processes in organizations (Albsoul et al., 2021). According to complexity theory, organizations are complex adaptive systems that continuously evolve and self-organize in response to internal and external stimuli (Estrada-Jimenez et al., 2021). Change management should therefore focus on fostering adaptability and resilience rather than seeking to control and predict change outcomes (Cilliers, 2019). Burnes and Cooke, B. (2019) define the complexity theory as offering an alternative view of change management by focusing on the self-organizing nature of organizations and the emergent properties arising from the interactions between organizational actors.

When contrasting the complexity theory, Kruger's change management theory focuses on overcoming barriers to change by addressing visible and invisible factors, such as cost, quality, time, perceptions, beliefs, and power dynamics. In contrast, complexity theory emphasizes the unpredictable and adaptive nature of change in organizations, suggesting that change management should prioritize adaptability and resilience over control and predictability.

Another contrasting theory is the Appreciative Inquiry Theory. Appreciative Inquiry (AI) offers an alternative approach to change management, focusing on identifying and building upon an organization's strengths rather than fixing problems or overcoming barriers (Whitney et al., 2019). AI encourages organizations to engage in collaborative, strengths-based conversations to co-create a shared vision of the future and develop strategies for achieving that vision. The AI process typically involves four phases: Discover, Dream, Design, and Destiny (Bushe & Marshak, 2018). Furthermore, Cooperrider and Godwin (2019) define Appreciative Inquiry as a strengths-based, positive approach to change that emphasizes the generative power of inquiry and dialogue to create new possibilities and sustainable growth within organizations.

Kruger's change management theory aims to identify and address barriers to change in organizations, whereas Appreciative Inquiry takes a more positive approach by focusing on building upon existing strengths and fostering collaborative, future-oriented conversations. While Kruger's theory emphasizes overcoming obstacles, AI highlights the potential for growth and improvement by tapping into the organization's strengths and resources.

Another contrasting theory to Kruger's change management theory is action research. Action research (AR) is a participatory, democratic process concerned with developing practical knowledge to pursue worthwhile human purposes, grounded in a participatory worldview. It seeks to bring together action and reflection, theory and practice, in participation with others, in the pursuit of practical solutions to issues of pressing concern to people (Coghlan and Brannick, 2019). Coghlan and Shani (2020) state action research is an approach to creating organizational change and development, which involves a family of research methodologies that pursue action (or change) and research (or understanding) at the same time,' emphasizing collaboration, participation, and reflection in the pursuit of practical solutions to pressing organizational issues.

Figure 5 provides the core elements of action research from Coghlan et al. (2014):

# Figure 5

Action research



*Note*. From *Doing Action research in your own Organization*, by D. Coghlan, & T. Brannick, 2019, SAGE Publications.

The methodology of the change management theory often relies on frameworks and models that provide structured approaches to manage and implement change. While the action research theory follows a cyclical process in which researchers and practitioners actively engage in identifying problems, designing and implementing interventions, observing the results, reflecting on the outcomes, and refining the approach as needed. Furthermore, change management theory is primarily concerned with addressing barriers to change within organizations; the action research theory focuses on problem-solving and learning through collaborative, iterative processes. Change management theory provides frameworks and models for managing change, whereas Action research emphasizes an ongoing cycle of planning, action, observation, and reflection to generate practical solutions and insights.

Yet, our final contrasting theory is the dynamic capabilities theory. Dynamic capabilities theory suggests that organizations can achieve a competitive advantage by developing and deploying capabilities that enable them to sense, seize, and transform themselves in response to rapidly changing environments (Teece, Peteraf, & Leih, 2016). Wilden and Gudergan (2020) describe the dynamic capabilities theory as an organization's capacity to purposefully create, extend, or modify its resource base, enabling it to adapt and reshape its operations in response to changing market conditions and environmental turbulence.

Change management theory by Kruger emphasizes recognizing and overcoming these barriers is essential for successfully implementing change initiatives. On the other hand, the dynamic capabilities theory highlights an organization's ability to create, extend, or modify its resource base to adapt to changing market conditions and environmental turbulence. The focus is on the organization's capacity to develop and leverage its resources, skills, and capabilities to respond to external changes and maintain a competitive advantage. Both theories are essential for understanding and managing change in organizations, but they approach the topic from different perspectives and emphasize different aspects of the change process.

In summary, while Kruger's change management theory focuses on identifying and addressing barriers to change within organizations, contrasting theories like complexity theory, appreciative inquiry, action research, and dynamic capabilities theory offer alternative perspectives on managing change. These contrasting theories emphasize various aspects, such as the unpredictable nature of change, building upon organizational strengths, problem-solving through iterative processes, and adapting to external modifications to maintain a competitive advantage.

When considering the importance of building resilient applications with blockchain technology, these contrasting theories may provide valuable insights into managing change effectively. Blockchain technology can introduce new challenges and opportunities, requiring organizations to be adaptable, resilient, and agile in their approach to change. For instance, complexity theory highlights the need for adaptability and resilience in unpredictable changes, which can be essential when adopting blockchain technology. Likewise, dynamic capabilities theory underlines the importance of developing and leveraging organizational resources, skills, and capabilities to respond to external changes, such as the rapidly evolving blockchain landscape. Organizations seeking to implement blockchain technology should consider these contrasting theories in their change management strategies. By combining the insights from Kruger's change management theory and these alternative perspectives, organizations can develop a more comprehensive understanding of change processes, ultimately facilitating the successful adoption of resilient blockchain applications.

#### **Criticism of the Change Management Theory**

There has been criticism of Kruger's change management theory. For example, Alvesson and Sveningsson (2015) argue that the focus on visible and invisible barriers to change does not capture the full range of factors that affect change initiatives, such as the role of organizational culture and power dynamics. While these two factors are included underneath the iceberg, some believe they are not adequately represented in the change management theory. This may apply to all organizational changes, from the business side to the technology side.

Furthermore, Burnes (2015) criticizes the change management iceberg theory for its limited focus on individual-level resistance to change. The author emphasizes that the framework needs to consider group and organizational-level resistance to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the barriers to change. Considering these multiple levels of resistance is crucial for organizations to develop strategies that address the complex nature of change resistance. This can enable organizations to make more informed decisions and better anticipate the challenges that may arise during the change process.

Cameron and Green (2015) also argue that the change management iceberg theory does not provide a detailed roadmap for addressing the barriers to change. The authors suggest that a more comprehensive approach, such as Kotter's 8-Step Process, may be more helpful in guiding organizations through change initiatives. They emphasize the need for a clear, actionable plan to overcome resistance and promote the successful implementation of change. By adopting a more structured approach, organizations can ensure they are better prepared to navigate the complexities of change and achieve their desired outcomes.

More criticism can be found from Hayes (2018), who discusses that the change management iceberg theory does not adequately address the role of emotions in organizational change. The author emphasizes that emotions, such as fear and anxiety, are critical drivers of resistance to change and must be considered in any change management framework. These emotions may directly impact an organization's ability to adopt new technology, advance business processes, and improve customer satisfaction. It is essential for change management approaches to consider the emotional aspects of change, as this enables organizations to develop targeted strategies for addressing employees' concerns and fostering a supportive environment.

Another example of criticism can be found in Worley and Mohrman (2014), who argue that the change management iceberg theory and other traditional change management approaches may be obsolete in today's rapidly changing business environment. The authors suggest organizations adopt more agile and continuous change approaches to stay competitive. They emphasize the need for organizations to embrace a culture of adaptability and innovation, which allows them to respond more effectively to emerging challenges and opportunities. By doing so, organizations can be better positioned to capitalize on new market trends and maintain a competitive edge in an increasingly dynamic landscape. This shift towards more flexible and responsive change management approaches highlights the limitations of the Change Management Iceberg theory in addressing the complex and fast-paced nature of modern organizational change.

In summary, the criticism of Kruger's change management theory mainly revolves around its inability to capture the full range of factors affecting change initiatives, its limited focus on individual-level resistance, the absence of a detailed roadmap for addressing barriers, the lack of emphasis on emotions, and its potential obsolescence in today's rapidly changing business environment. These limitations can affect an organization's ability to adopt new technology, such as blockchain, and improve its processes and customer satisfaction. Building resilient applications with blockchain technology requires organizations to be agile and adaptable to change. However, the criticism of Kruger's change management theory suggests that it may not be sufficient for managing change in organizations implementing blockchain technology.

Organizations may consider adopting more comprehensive change management approaches, such as Kotter's 8-Step Process, to guide them through change initiatives. By doing so, organizations can respond more effectively to emerging challenges and opportunities, ensuring they stay competitive and implement blockchain technology in their processes. In conclusion, while Kruger's change management theory has its limitations, organizations can still benefit from understanding the barriers to change and adopting more comprehensive, agile, and emotionally aware change management approaches to build resilient applications with blockchain technology successfully.

### **Blockchain Overview**

Blockchain technology is a decentralized, distributed ledger system that allows for secure, transparent, and tamper-proof record-keeping of transactions across a distributed network (Casino, Dasaklis, & Patsakis, 2019). Each transaction in a blockchain is grouped into blocks, which are then cryptographically linked to form a chain of blocks, as seen in Figure 6 by Bashir, I. (2017). This chain creates an immutable history of transactions that cannot be altered without the network's consensus (Nakamoto, 2008).

## Figure 6

### Blockchain



*Note*. From *Mastering Blockchain*, by I. Bashir, 2017, p. x.

Consensus is a process by which a group of participants in a decentralized network agree on data validity, such as transactions, within a distributed system like a blockchain. In blockchain technology, consensus mechanisms ensure that all nodes in the network maintain a consistent and accurate view of the shared ledger, thus fostering trust and security (Bano et al., 2017). Cryptographic hash functions ensure the integrity and security of the data stored in the blockchain, making it resistant to unauthorized modifications (Tschorsch & Scheuermann, 2016). Additionally, blockchain technology fosters trust among participants by ensuring transparency and providing a single source of truth for all recorded transactions (Lin, Shen, & Zhang, 2019).

In their 2021 study, Elo et al. (2021) shed light on this phenomenon within the Internet of Things (IoT) context. They argue for integrating Distributed Ledger Technology, a type of blockchain technology, in IoT systems, suggesting that this could significantly enhance system resiliency. They propose that the elimination of a central authority, enabled by blockchain's inherent consensus mechanisms, can serve to strengthen IoT federation resilience, a perspective that aligns with the observations of Bano et al. (2017). Their research further supports the growing trend of adopting blockchain technology across different sectors, indicating its transformative potential not just in finance, supply chain management, and health care, but also in bolstering IoT system integrity and reliability (Kshetri, 2018; Lin, Shen, & Zhang, 2019).

One of the main applications of blockchain technology is in cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin, which was the first and most well-known implementation of a blockchain-based digital currency (Nakamoto, 2008). Cryptocurrencies leverage the decentralized nature of blockchain to facilitate peer-to-peer transactions without the need for a central authority or intermediary, such as banks (Tapscott & Tapscott, 2016). This has led to the growth of decentralized financial services (DeFi) and applications (DApps), which aim to transform traditional financial services by offering more accessible, costeffective, and secure alternatives (Zohar, 2020).

Smart contracts, self-executing agreements with the terms of the contract directly written into code, are another prominent application of blockchain technology. These contracts automatically enforce the terms and conditions specified in the code when predefined conditions are met, eliminating the need for intermediaries and reducing the risk of fraud and disputes (Christidis & Devetsikiotis, 2016). Figure 7 shows the interaction of smart contacts on the blockchain between two parties provided by Sinha and Chowdhury (2021). The Ethereum platform, which introduced the concept of smart contracts, has paved the way for numerous blockchain-based applications, including decentralized autonomous organizations and the tokenization of assets (Buterin, 2014).

### Figure 7

Smart Contract Interaction



*Note*. From "Ethereum: A Next-Generation Smart Contract and Decentralized Application Platform," by V. Buterin, 2014, *Ethereum Project White Paper*, p. x.

Despite its potential benefits, blockchain technology faces several challenges and limitations, such as scalability, energy consumption, and regulatory issues. The scalability of blockchain networks, particularly those employing Proof of Work (PoW) consensus mechanisms, is limited due to the computational power required to maintain the network and validate transactions (Croman et al., 2016). Furthermore, the energy consumption associated with PoW-based systems, like Bitcoin, has raised environmental concerns and led to the development of alternative consensus mechanisms like Proof of Stake (PoS) (Mora et al., 2018). Regulatory issues also need to be addressed to ensure the responsible and lawful implementation of blockchain technology across industries (Yermack, 2017).

Proof of Work is a consensus algorithm utilized in various blockchain networks to maintain their security and validity, requiring participants to complete complex computational tasks before adding new blocks to the chain (Akbar et al., 2021). This process, known as mining, not only deters potential attackers by making it computationally expensive but also ensures that no single entity controls the entire network. As noted by Alzahrani & Bulusu (2020), the PoW consensus mechanism is designed to provide the network's security, as the difficulty of the cryptographic puzzle makes it infeasible for any single attacker to take control of the network. This approach, however, has been criticized for its high energy consumption and environmental impact. According to Mora et al. (2021), the Bitcoin network, which predominantly relies on the Proof of Work mechanism, was estimated to consume 121.36 terawatt-hours per year in 2021, comparable to the energy consumption of a mid-sized country like the Netherlands. As a result, alternative consensus mechanisms have been proposed to address these concerns.

Proof of Stake (PoS) is an alternative consensus mechanism employed in some blockchain networks to address the environmental and energy consumption concerns associated with Proof of Work systems. Instead of relying on computational power to secure the network, PoS utilizes the ownership of digital assets (i.e., cryptocurrency) as the primary factor in determining who validates new blocks. According to Kwon et al. (2020), in a PoS-based blockchain, validators are chosen based on the amount of cryptocurrency they hold and are willing to stake as collateral, creating a more energyefficient system compared to PoW. This approach not only promotes a more environmentally sustainable model but also reduces the risk of centralization due to the distribution of assets. Nguyen et al. (2021) explain that PoS provides a more equitable distribution of rewards and lowers the barrier to entry for participation in the consensus process, thus reducing the risk of centralization. As such, Proof of Stake has gained traction as a viable alternative to Proof of Work in developing new blockchain networks.

Blockchain technology is a decentralized, distributed ledger system that enables secure, transparent, and tamper-proof record-keeping of transactions across a network of computers. Consensus mechanisms, like Proof of Work (PoW) and Proof of Stake (PoS), ensure the network's security and data integrity. While PoW requires participants to perform complex computational tasks, PoS chooses validators based on the amount of cryptocurrency they stake, making it more energy-efficient. Blockchain's key advantages include eliminating the need for a central authority, increasing trust and transparency, and fostering various applications like cryptocurrencies, decentralized financial services, and smart contracts. Despite its potential, blockchain faces challenges like scalability, energy consumption, and regulatory issues, leading to the development of alternative consensus mechanisms like PoS.

### **Current Blockchain Technology Uses**

One prominent use case is in the field of finance, where blockchain has been employed to facilitate secure and transparent transactions through cryptocurrencies like Bitcoin and Ethereum (Nakamoto, 2008). Additionally, blockchain-based platforms such as Ripple and Stellar have been developed to enable faster, more efficient cross-border payment and remittance services, bypassing traditional intermediaries and reducing transaction costs (Hawlitschek, Notheisen, & Teubner, 2018). These platforms have the potential to reshape the global financial landscape, making transactions more accessible and cost-effective for individuals and businesses alike (Tapscott & Tapscott, 2017). Fernandez-Vazquez et al. (2022) present an in-depth exploration of blockchain's application in sustainable supply chain management. Using the Analytical Hierarchical Process methodology, they examine blockchain's potential to enhance traceability, security, and efficiency within supply chain networks. They underscore blockchain's ability to provide an immutable, decentralized ledger that allows all parties to track goods' movements and ensure their provenance, aligning with the observations of Kamble, Gunasekaran, & Arha (2019). Moreover, they highlight the value of blockchain-enabled smart contracts in automating processes, thus reducing human errors and increasing overall efficiency. Their research supports the idea that this heightened visibility, coupled with the automation capabilities, can significantly boost trust and collaboration among supply chain partners, ultimately leading to more sustainable and resilient supply chains (Saberi, Kouhizadeh, Sarkis, & Shen, 2019).

In the health care sector, blockchain technology offers significant potential for improving data security, interoperability, and patient privacy. By creating a decentralized and tamper-proof ledger for storing patient records, blockchain can enable secure and transparent sharing of medical information among health care providers, improving coordination and facilitating better treatment outcomes (Kuo, Kim, & Ohno-Machado, 2019). Furthermore, blockchain can empower patients by granting them greater control over their data, allowing them to selectively share information with authorized entities and ensuring their privacy. This patient-centric approach to health information management has the potential to transform health care delivery by promoting patient engagement and personalized care (Metcalfe, 2020). Lastly, blockchain technology has been applied to enhance the security and transparency of voting systems. By leveraging the immutable nature of blockchain, it is possible to create an auditable and tamper-proof record of votes, reducing the risk of electoral fraud and manipulation (Hardwick, Akram, & Markantonakis, 2019). Additionally, blockchain-based voting platforms can enable remote voting, making the process more accessible and convenient for citizens while maintaining the integrity of the electoral process. The adoption of such systems could lead to increased voter participation and trust in the democratic process, ultimately contributing to more inclusive and representative governance (O'Reilly & Janssen, 2020).

Blockchain technology has shown promise in various sectors, including finance, supply chain management, health care, and voting systems. In finance, it facilitates secure transactions through cryptocurrencies and enables efficient cross-border payments. In supply chain management, it enhances traceability and efficiency, helping to prevent fraud and improve collaboration. In health care, blockchain can improve data security and patient privacy, promoting better treatment outcomes and patient engagement. Finally, in voting systems, blockchain can increase security and transparency, potentially leading to greater voter participation and trust in the democratic process.

### **Traditional Resiliency Strategies**

Current technology resiliency practices focus on ensuring the continuity of business operations and minimizing downtime in the face of disruptions, such as natural disasters, cyber-attacks, or system failures. These practices involve implementing robust strategies that encompass backup, recovery, and redundancy plans, as well as incorporating risk management methodologies (Alali & Gao, 2021). In the age of digital transformation, organizations across various industries are increasingly reliant on technology, thus making the need for resilient systems more critical than ever before (Suri & Pal, 2020). Ensuring the resilience of technology infrastructure helps maintain customer trust and satisfaction and safeguards an organization's valuable data and resources.

### Database Resiliency

Traditional database resiliency practices have evolved to address the challenges associated with ensuring the availability, integrity, and accessibility of data in a continuously changing technological landscape. One such practice is the implementation of distributed databases, which involve partitioning data across multiple servers or locations. This approach increases fault tolerance by reducing the likelihood of a single point of failure and improving data recovery capabilities (Ceri & Pelagatti, 2021). Additionally, distributed databases can balance the workload among the servers, resulting in increased performance and responsiveness, especially when data access and processing demands are high.

Another practice in enhancing database resiliency is backup and recovery strategies. Regular and comprehensive data backups help organizations recover from data loss or corruption events, such as hardware failures or cyber-attacks (Tariq & Aslam, 2020). In addition to traditional full and incremental backup techniques, modern solutions offer continuous data protection mechanisms, which capture changes in real time, enabling recovery to any point in time. In simpler terms, continuous data protection systems constantly record every change that occurs in your data, similar to a live video recording, allowing you to restore data from any specific moment, unlike traditional backups, which only allow you to restore from the last backup time. Organizations can further improve recovery capabilities by storing backup data offsite or in the cloud, providing additional protection against disasters affecting the primary data center.

Finally, implementing database replication and clustering techniques contribute significantly to ensuring database resiliency. Replication involves the synchronization of data across multiple database instances, allowing for seamless failover in case of a system failure or disruption (Ceri & Pelagatti, 2021). Clustering, on the other hand, groups several servers together to act as a single unit, providing redundancy and load balancing. Both replication and clustering help maintain data consistency and high availability, which is essential for organizations with mission-critical applications and services that require uninterrupted access to their data.

### Network Resiliency

Network resiliency practices aim to ensure the uninterrupted functioning of communication and data transfer across an organization's infrastructure. One crucial practice in achieving network resiliency is the implementation of redundant network paths and components, which help mitigate the impact of a single point of failure (Bilal et al., 2020). Organizations can maintain network availability by incorporating redundant routers, switches, and connections in case of hardware failures, cable damages, or other disruptions. This redundancy can be achieved through diverse routing, where multiple paths are established between network nodes to provide alternate routes for data traffic during outages or periods of congestion.

Another practice in enhancing network resiliency is using network monitoring and management tools, which provide real-time visibility into the performance and health of the network infrastructure (Peng et al., 2021). These tools can help identify and address potential issues before they escalate into critical problems, enabling administrators to optimize network performance and resource allocation. Furthermore, advanced monitoring solutions can incorporate machine learning and artificial intelligence capabilities, allowing for the detection of unusual network patterns or behavior that may indicate security threats or vulnerabilities.

Finally, implementing robust network security measures is essential for ensuring network resiliency, as cyber-attacks can lead to significant disruptions and data breaches (Alrawais et al., 2020). Organizations can adopt a multi-layered security approach, which includes the deployment of firewalls, intrusion detection and prevention systems (IDPS), and secure access control mechanisms. Additionally, regular security assessments, vulnerability scanning, and penetration testing can help identify and address potential weaknesses in the network infrastructure, ultimately contributing to a more resilient network environment.

### **Cloud Computing**

Cloud computing has revolutionized the way organizations manage and consume IT resources, offering a range of practices that enhance flexibility, scalability, and costefficiency. One such practice is the adoption of Infrastructure-as-a-Service (IaaS) models, which provide virtualized computing resources over the internet, eliminating the need for organizations to invest in physical hardware and maintenance (Hashem et al., 2020). IaaS enables businesses to provision computing resources on-demand, allowing them to scale infrastructure up or down according to their requirements, thereby optimizing costs and resource utilization. Adding to this narrative, Zou et al. (2022) explore the synergistic integration of blockchain technology with cloud computing systems, including IaaS models. Their systematic survey suggests that leveraging blockchain technology's decentralized, transparent, and secure attributes can add an extra layer of trust and reliability to cloud-based systems. For instance, this combined approach could ensure data integrity and privacy in IaaS models while facilitating secure, auditable transactions.

Another cloud computing practice is the utilization of Platform-as-a-Service (PaaS) offerings, which provide a complete development and deployment environment in the cloud, enabling developers to build, test, and deploy applications without the complexity of managing the underlying infrastructure (Khan and Al-Yasiri, 2020). PaaS solutions often include a suite of tools, libraries, and frameworks that streamline the development process and support multiple programming languages and architectures. This approach can significantly reduce the time-to-market for new applications and promote organizational innovation.

Finally, Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) is a popular cloud computing practice that delivers software applications over the internet, allowing users to access and interact with them through a web browser, without the need for local installation or maintenance (Liu & Mao, 2020). SaaS providers handle all aspects of software management, including updates, security, and scalability, offering organizations a subscription-based model that

eliminates upfront costs and reduces the burden on IT teams. SaaS solutions have gained traction across various industries due to their ease of use, accessibility, and the potential for seamless integration with other cloud services.

Technology resiliency practices focus on ensuring business continuity, minimizing downtime, and protecting valuable data and resources in the face of disruptions (Alali & Gao, 2021; Suri & Pal, 2020). Key practices include distributed databases, backup and recovery strategies, and replication and clustering techniques for database resiliency (Ceri & Pelagatti, 2021; Tariq & Aslam, 2020); redundant network paths and components, network monitoring and management tools, and robust network security measures for network resiliency (Bilal et al., 2020; Peng et al., 2021; Alrawais et al., 2020); and IaaS, PaaS, and SaaS practices for cloud computing (Hashem et al., 2020; Khan and Al-Yasiri, 2020; Liu & Mao, 2020). Blockchain technology can address these resiliency practices by providing a decentralized, tamper-proof, and transparent infrastructure, which can enhance data integrity, security, and fault tolerance (Casino, Dasaklis, & Patsakis, 2019). Blockchain-based solutions can be integrated into various aspects of technology resiliency, such as database management, network security, and cloud services, ensuring a more resilient and secure environment (Mollah, Karim, & Rahman, 2021).

### **Blockchain Resiliency Strategies**

One aspect of resiliency addressed by blockchain is data integrity, ensuring that information stored on the blockchain remains unchanged and verifiable (Casino, Dasaklis, & Patsakis, 2019). By creating a tamper-proof and distributed ledger, blockchain technology eliminates single points of failure and mitigates the risk of data manipulation, ultimately contributing to a more secure and reliable infrastructure. The table by Chowdhury (2018) compares centralized databases to blockchain databases:

# Table 1

Issue	Block chain	Central database	Advantage
Trust building	Can operate without any	Need a central trusted party	Blockchain
	trusted party		
Confidentiality of data	(by default) All nodes have	Restricts access to	Database
	visibility of the data	authorized person	
Robustness/fault	Data are distributed among	Data are stored in central	Blockchain
tolerance	nodes	database	
Performance	Takes time to reach concensus	Immediate execution/update	Database
	(e.g., 10min for Bitcoin)		
Redundancy	(by default) each participating	Only the central party has	Blockchain
	node has latest copy	сору	
Security	(by default) use cryptographic	Uses traditional access	Blockchain
	measures	control	

Blockchain Versus Centralized Databases

Note. From "Blockchain versus database: a critical analysis," by M. J. M. Chowdhury, A.

Colman, M. A. Kabir, J. Han, & P. & Sarda, 2018, *IEEE international conference on big data science and engineering*.

## (https://doi.org/10.1109/TrustCom/BigDataSE.2018.00186).

Another way blockchain technology enhances resiliency is through the use of smart contracts, which are self-executing contracts with the terms of agreement directly written into the code (Christidis & Devetsikiotis, 2016). Smart contracts can automate various processes, such as payments and inventory management, reducing delays and human errors while increasing overall efficiency. The automation capabilities provided by smart contracts not only streamline operations but also contribute to the resiliency of systems by minimizing the potential impact of human intervention or errors on critical processes (Saberi, Kouhizadeh, Sarkis, & Shen, 2019).

Furthermore, blockchain technology enables greater transparency and traceability, which are essential components of resiliency in sectors like supply chain management and finance. By providing an immutable and decentralized ledger, blockchain allows all parties involved to track the movement of goods or transactions in real-time, facilitating trust and collaboration among stakeholders (Kamble, Gunasekaran, & Arha, 2019). This enhanced visibility and traceability can lead to improved detection and response to potential disruptions, ultimately resulting in more sustainable and resilient systems.

Finally, blockchain technology can improve resiliency by enhancing security and privacy. The cryptographic mechanisms employed in blockchain networks ensure secure and verifiable transactions, while also providing privacy through techniques such as zero-knowledge proofs and ring signatures (Zohar, 2020). This combination of security and privacy features not only protects sensitive data from unauthorized access but also ensures that the system remains resilient against cyber-attacks and other potential threats. Overall, blockchain technology presents a viable solution for addressing resiliency challenges in various domains, providing a foundation for more secure, transparent, and reliable systems.

Blockchain technology addresses resiliency in several ways, including enhancing data integrity, streamlining processes through smart contracts, promoting transparency and traceability, and improving security and privacy. By creating a tamper-proof and distributed ledger, blockchain ensures information remains unchanged and verifiable, contributing to a more secure and reliable infrastructure (Casino, Dasaklis, & Patsakis, 2019). Smart contracts automate processes, reducing delays and human errors while

increasing efficiency and system resiliency (Saberi, Kouhizadeh, Sarkis, & Shen, 2019). Additionally, blockchain's immutable and decentralized ledger enables transparency and traceability in sectors like supply chain management and finance, promoting trust, collaboration, and more resilient systems (Kamble, Gunasekaran, & Arha, 2019). Lastly, blockchain technology improves resiliency by enhancing security and privacy through cryptographic mechanisms and techniques such as zero-knowledge proofs and ring signatures, protecting sensitive data and ensuring system resilience against potential threats (Zohar, 2020).

#### **Transition and Summary**

This research explores Kruger's change management theory and how it relates to blockchain resiliency. This theory highlights the crucial understanding of both observable and hidden factors in project management. Observable factors, such as time, cost, and quality, are transparently managed in projects, while hidden elements—underlying cultural, power, and political dynamics—are frequently disregarded due to their intangibility but are essential for project success. The theory broadens the concept of time management beyond initial planning to include vital behavioral skills and considers both direct and indirect costs under cost management. The use of delimitations in the study ensured focus and alignment with research objectives, as they were described as consciously set boundaries by the researcher, including restrictions on the number and location of cases and specific qualifications for IT professionals, all within the context of exploring strategies for resilient systems among IT professionals with blockchain experience. Another cornerstone of this section is the exploration of resiliency, specifically through blockchain technology. Blockchain bolsters resiliency via data integrity, process automation using smart contracts, and enhanced transparency, traceability, security, and privacy. By forming a tamper-proof, distributed ledger, blockchain assures that information stays consistent and verifiable, creating a secure, reliable framework. Smart contracts streamline various processes, diminishing delays and errors, hence fortifying overall efficiency and system resiliency. Following this exploration of blockchain and traditional resiliency strategies, subsequent sections will discuss data collection and analysis to answer the research question.

#### Section 2: The Project

In the section below, I will further explore the purpose of this research and my role as the researcher. This will be from the perspective of an IT professional with experience supporting enterprise applications and blockchain experience. Furthermore, I will discuss this study's research method and design to ensure the proper alignment with the research question and the problem being addressed. A deep dive into the data collection methods will be undertaken, with specifics outlined regarding instrumentation, collection techniques, and organizational strategies. I also aim to highlight potential challenges and their respective solutions throughout the data collection and analysis process. I will end this section by discussing this study's reliability and validity.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple-case study is to examine the strategies IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems. The study's target population comprises IT professionals hailing from development and infrastructure teams across the United States. Insights derived from this study could assist organizations by illustrating resiliency deficiencies within their IT systems and showcasing the capacity of blockchain technology to alleviate such risks. This could further suggest business leaders need to construct a resilient IT architecture that tackles potential shortcomings in IT infrastructure and procedures. By doing so, there may be a societal impact by potentially reducing downtime of essential IT platforms, including hospital systems, vital supply chains, and utility services.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

I have been employed in the technology industry since 2005, beginning as a desktop technician for an enterprise organization and then transitioning to server technical support. Currently, I am a technologist in an operations team that supports web-facing applications. Over the last 5 years, my focus has shifted from creating and maintaining applications in the operational space to enabling resiliency and optimal application performance. This focus spurred my interest in considering blockchain as a data layer for enterprise applications. Originally, my interest in blockchain technology was purely financial; however, my perception shifted as I noticed operational gaps within existing technologies. I aimed to explore these possibilities through my work and contribute to the ongoing dialogue on leveraging blockchain for operational efficiency and resilience.

As the researcher in this study, my role in the data collection process is central and multifaceted. I was responsible for designing and implementing the research methodology, selecting suitable participants, conducting interviews, collecting relevant documents, and overseeing the data collection process. Furthermore, my extensive experience in the technology industry has afforded me a valuable understanding of the context and nuances of the work of the IT professionals participating in this study, which enabled me to ask insightful questions and interpret responses with depth and accuracy. Although I did not work directly with the study participants, I ensured they had the relevant experience to explore the topic.

It was also crucial to recognize the potential for my personal experiences and

perspectives to influence the research process. A researcher's personal involvement at various stages of qualitative research presents an ethical bias, which can influence study results(Bispo, 2022; Mackieson et al., 2019; Sanjari et al., 2014). To mitigate bias, I strived to maintain reflexivity throughout the data collection process, continually reflecting on my assumptions, biases, and influences and taking steps to ensure they did not unduly shape the research outcomes (Berger, 2015). This included strategies such as maintaining a research journal to document reflections and decisions made during the research process and seeking peer debriefing to gain external perspectives on the data and findings. Moreover, recognizing the inherent power dynamic between researcher and participant, I aimed to foster a respectful and collaborative relationship with participants, valuing their experiences and perspectives and striving to give voice to their experiences fairly, accurately, and respectfully.

My research employed video conferencing software for data collection, with both audio and video, which can reduce bias and enhance reliability (Johnson et al., 2020). I also planned to employ the member checking method to avoid misinterpretations of participants' responses (see Motulsky, 2021). This method, used in qualitative research, increased the credibility and validity of the collected data. I also planned to utilize triangulation methods in my study (see Farquhar, 2020).

To uphold ethical research standards, I used the *Belmont Report* as a framework, embodying its three fundamental ethical principles as described by Siddiqui and Sharp (2021): respect for persons, beneficence, and justice.

1. Respect for persons: This principle implies that individuals should be treated

as autonomous agents capable of making decisions for themselves.

Additionally, individuals with diminished autonomy (for example, children, prisoners, or mentally impaired persons) should be afforded additional protections.

- 2. Beneficence: Researchers should aim to maximize benefits and minimize harm to participants. This means they must strive to design and conduct research in a way that ensures potential benefits significantly outweigh potential risks.
- 3. Justice: This involves ensuring a fair distribution of the benefits and burdens of research. For example, one group should not bear the brunt of research risks while another group reaps all the benefits.

These principles were implemented to ensure that participants could freely provide information and understand they could exit the study anytime.

First, I demonstrated respect for persons by treating all participants as autonomous individuals who can make informed decisions about their participation. I communicated all the necessary information about the study to the participants in a clear and understandable manner. This includes the study's purpose, methodology, potential benefits, possible risks, and their right to withdraw from the study at any time without any negative repercussions.

Second, beneficence was carefully considered in my research design and execution. I ensured that the benefits of the research, such as gaining insights into IT strategies and the potential improvements to enterprise application resilience, significantly outweighed any potential risks, like time taken away from their usual duties or discomfort in sharing professional experiences. Additionally, I strived to minimize any potential harm by maintaining strict confidentiality and anonymity measures, ensuring that all participant information and responses were securely stored and used solely for the purpose of this study.

Lastly, the principle of justice was upheld by ensuring a fair distribution of the benefits and burdens of research. I carefully selected participants from different roles, levels, and team compositions, ensuring that no one group was overburdened with the demands of participation or excluded from the potential benefits. The insights gained from this study were intended to contribute to the professional development and knowledge of all participants and their teams, not just a specific subset. By diligently implementing these ethical research standards, I aimed to conduct a study that respected, protected, and benefited all participants in a fair and equitable manner.

#### **Participants**

The participants in this study were IT professionals from either infrastructure or development teams, each with a minimum of 8 years of experience supporting enterprise systems. This study employed a multiple-case approach, ensuring the participants came from diverse organizations with varied sector experiences. The sectors included in this study encompassed financial technology, health care, and local government. Although these participants had a basic understanding of blockchain technology, they had not directly used it in their current roles. The goal was to gather individuals with operational and developmental experience in enterprise applications to understand the resiliency gaps in these platforms. By focusing on these gaps, insights were gleaned about areas for improvement and the potential benefits of implementing blockchain technology. Additionally, a diverse pool of participants contributed to a comprehensive understanding of the issue.

To find participants, I utilized LinkedIn and attended relevant conferences. Many researchers have successfully leveraged social media to locate participants. With over 450 million users worldwide, LinkedIn has become a hub for exchanging knowledge, ideas, and opportunities (Matei et al., 2017). As a professional networking platform, LinkedIn provides invaluable resources for researchers seeking interview participants. Using the site's advanced search features and vast user base, researchers could identify and connect with potential participants with the specific expertise or professional background relevant to their study.

I initially established a working relationship with potential participants through direct communication on LinkedIn. I compiled a shortlist of interested participants, ensuring they had the requisite experience to address the research question. However, considerable time was dedicated to recruitment. The enlistment of research participants was impeded by their time constraints, often due to heavy workloads, leading them to prioritize work over interview participation (Daly et al., 2019). I employed the elaboration likelihood model to mitigate this risk to facilitate persuasion. The ELM suggested that the topic's relevance, the person's ability to understand the message, and their motivation to process the message would determine the route they'd take to process the information (Scannell, 2021). I implemented strategies that respected autonomy and

relied on persuasion and offers, being careful to avoid manipulation and coercion.

### **Research Method and Design**

I established professional connections by contacting numerous potential participants via email, direct messages on LinkedIn, or video calls. After identifying those who expressed interest, I organized and classified them based on the criteria I had established for my participants. I recognized that there might be obstacles in forming these relationships (Wozney et al., 2019). Additionally, recruitment research, communication media, and information quality were crucial in attracting potential participants (Muduli & Trivedi, 2020). Focusing on communication media was one of the key mitigation strategies I used to find my participants.

### Method

The research method that I adopted was qualitative. A qualitative study's philosophical point of view is often aligned with interpretivism or constructivism (Van der Walt, 2020). These perspectives emphasize the subjective nature of human experiences and the importance of understanding social phenomena within their specific contexts. Qualitative research is used to explore and understand the meaning and interpretation of individuals' experiences, beliefs, and behaviors. It acknowledges that reality is socially constructed and that multiple variations could exist. As a researcher conducting a qualitative study, researchers engage in in-depth interviews, observations, and textual or visual data analysis to gain insights into participants' lived experiences and the social processes at play (Liu, 2022). Qualitative methods offer a unique advantage in capturing the richness and complexity of human experiences, perceptions, and social

phenomena (Hong & Cross Francis, 2020). Through in-depth interviews, observations, and textual or visual data analysis, qualitative research allows researchers to delve deeply into individuals' lived experiences, uncovering the nuances, meanings, and contextual factors that shape their perspectives (Rapport & Hughes, 2020). This depth of understanding is often challenging to achieve through quantitative or mixed methods, which typically focus on measurable variables and statistical analysis. Qualitative research allows for a more holistic and comprehensive exploration of the subject matter, providing a deeper understanding of the social and cultural dynamics.

In addition, qualitative research is precious when exploring new or relatively uncharted areas of study. When little is known about a phenomenon or when existing theories or frameworks are insufficient, qualitative methods can generate new insights and ideas (Kyngäs, 2020). Through open-ended interviews or observations, researchers can uncover unexpected patterns, find hidden factors, or challenge existing assumptions. Qualitative research allows for exploring diverse perspectives and provides a foundation for developing theories or hypotheses that can be further investigated using quantitative or mixed methods. Since I observed the experience of IT professionals, a qualitative best fits my research question.

Furthermore, qualitative methods excel in understanding the context-specific nature of social phenomena and the dynamic processes that occur within them (Izogo & Jayawardhena, 2018). By immersing themselves in the research setting and engaging with participants, researchers can understand the social, cultural, and environmental factors that influence individuals and their behaviors. Qualitative research can capture the
temporal and situational aspects of phenomena, allowing for an examination of how events unfold over time and the interplay between different actors or variables (Spector & Meier, 2014). This nuanced understanding of context and process is often essential for informing interventions, policy development, or theory-building efforts. The nuanced reactions to the interview questions can derive information to address the IT problem.

While mixed methods and quantitative research have strengths and applications, qualitative methods offer distinct advantages when exploring complex human experiences, uncovering new insights, and understanding the contextual dynamics of social phenomena. Researchers may choose qualitative methods when seeking a deep understanding of subjective experiences, when investigating new or unexplored areas, or when aiming to unravel the intricacies of social processes (Njie & Asimiran, 2014).

## **Research Design**

I chose to employ a multiple case study approach as the suitable qualitative method for my study. The primary aim of my research was to understand the specific strategies experienced blockchain IT professionals employ in supporting enterprise applications and how blockchain technology can increase resiliency. By examining multiple cases, I aimed to gain a comprehensive understanding of the diverse strategies used in different contexts and explore the potential benefits of blockchain technology in enhancing the resilience of enterprise applications. Given the nature of my objective, a case study approach is deemed appropriate for investigating these strategies in-depth.

To ensure data saturation in this research, I implemented several strategies. First, I selected four cases regarding organization size, industry sector, and geographic location.

This maximized the variability of strategies employed by IT professionals and the contexts in which blockchain technology was utilized, enhancing the richness and depth of the data collected. Second, within each case, I interviewed multiple IT professionals with different experience levels and roles within their organization. This allowed for various perspectives on the strategies employed and the use of blockchain technology in supporting enterprise applications. Third, the interviews were conducted until no new themes or insights emerged from the data, which is a standard marker of data saturation. To ensure this, I continuously analyzed the interview data while data collection was ongoing, allowing me to identify when saturation had been reached. Lastly, additional data sources, such as organizational documents and IT professionals' reflections, further contributed to achieving data saturation. By employing these strategies, I aimed to collect comprehensive and detailed data that thoroughly explored the topic at hand and ensured the credibility and trustworthiness of the research findings.

Several factors drove the choice of a multiple case study design. Firstly, it allows for an in-depth exploration of the specific strategies employed by experienced IT professionals in supporting enterprise applications. By examining multiple cases, the researcher can identify commonalities, differences, and patterns across various contexts, providing a comprehensive understanding of the topic (Bass et al., 2018). Additionally, a multiple case study design offers the opportunity to triangulate findings and enhance the credibility and validity of the research (Bass et al., 2018). By studying multiple cases, the researcher can strengthen the reliability of the results, as patterns or themes that emerge across different cases are less likely to be due to chance or specific contextual factors (Hartley, 2004).

Other research methods, such as surveys or experiments, were not selected for several reasons. Surveys might provide a broad overview, but they may not capture the depth and nuances of the specific strategies employed by IT professionals in supporting enterprise applications. Conversely, experiments typically focus on controlled variables and may not adequately capture the complexities of real-life contexts (Shamay-Tsoory & Mendelsohn, 2019). Given the research objective of understanding specific strategies and exploring the role of blockchain technology, a qualitative approach was deemed more appropriate for capturing the richness and contextual factors at play.

Lastly, the multiple case study design aligns well with the problem being studied. It allows for an exploration of the strategies employed by IT professionals in real-life settings, providing a deeper understanding of the complexities and challenges they face (Paparini et al., 2020). The design also facilitates examining how blockchain technology can increase resiliency in these applications, as multiple cases can reveal different ways blockchain is implemented and its impact on resilience. Moreover, the design allows for a comprehensive analysis of the interplay between strategies, contexts, and the role of blockchain, contributing to the development of practical insights and recommendations for IT professionals and organizations in enhancing the resilience of enterprise applications.

Overall, the multiple case study design was chosen due to its ability to provide indepth insights, triangulate findings, capture contextual nuances, and explore the specific strategies employed by IT professionals in supporting enterprise applications and the role of blockchain technology in increasing resiliency. In addition, the multiple case study design allows for a holistic examination of the problem, considering various perspectives and contexts. It offers a comprehensive and nuanced understanding of the strategies employed by IT professionals, taking into account the unique challenges and opportunities that arise in different organizational settings and industry sectors. Furthermore, this design enables the researcher to identify common patterns, variations, and potential factors that contribute to the success or limitations of the strategies, providing valuable insights for practical applications and informing future research in the field.

# **Population and Sampling**

I used two cases with two participants in each company for a total of four interviews since my research will be a multi-case study. These two cases provided me with the information to address the research question concerning IT problems. Boddy (2016) argues that qualitative research often concerns developing a depth of understanding rather than a breadth. This led me to believe four interviews were enough to explore this topic. My participants were all IT professionals from the infrastructure or development teams with blockchain experience supporting enterprise applications. Farrugia (2019) posits that in purposeful sampling, the researcher strategically chooses participants based on predetermined criteria, ensuring that the data gathered is optimally suited for addressing the research question. The participants for the case studies will be selected using purposeful sampling. This means that the researcher will strategically choose participants based on predetermined criteria, such as industry experience and role relevancy. The objective is to include participants who can offer valuable insights into the IT problem being studied.

Following Farrugia's assertion, I carefully selected these participants based on their industry experience and role relevancy, with the primary objective being their potential to offer valuable insights into the specific IT problems under consideration. By focusing on a small but contextually rich set of cases, I was able to delve deep into each case's unique circumstances and experiences, thus comprehensively exploring the issue. As Boddy (2016) advocated, this depth-focused approach will enable me to thoroughly understand the problem area, revealing nuances and complexities that may have been overlooked in a broader, less focused study.

In addition to these measures, I implemented an iterative data collection process to ensure data saturation within my population, in line with the recommendations of Saunders et al. (2018). This approach involved continually reviewing and analyzing data throughout the research process, which enabled me to monitor the emergence of new themes or insights and to determine when data saturation were achieved, defined as the point where no new information is forthcoming from new sampled units. Moreover, I utilized triangulation of data sources, as Carter et al. (2014) suggested, collecting and cross-verifying information from different sources, including direct interviews, company documents, and participant observations. This approach increased the robustness of my findings. It helped confirm when data saturation had been reached, enabling me to ensure that new data collected were consistent with the previously obtained data.

Additionally, I maintained an open dialogue with my participants throughout the

research process, as proposed by Morse (2015). This involved revisiting participants for follow-up interviews or clarifications when necessary, which ensured I had thoroughly explored each topic and reinforced the depth and richness of the data collected. Finally, I also employed member checking, a process whereby participants were allowed to review and confirm the accuracy of the interpretations made from their data (Birt et al., 2016). This procedure further ensured the depth and validity of the data collected and contributed to confirming data saturation. Through these comprehensive and rigorous measures, I ensured that data saturation was achieved within my population, thereby strengthening the credibility and reliability of my findings.

# **Ethical Research**

Ethics play a crucial role in research, as ignoring ethical considerations can lead to various types of harm to participants. It is essential to obtain informed consent from participants, ensuring they know the study's purpose, benefits, and potential risks before agreeing to participate. The conditions for acceptable informed consent are full disclosure, capacity, and voluntariness (Xu et al., 2020). Full disclosure involves providing all the required information for participants to make an independent decision, while capacity refers to their ability to understand the information and make a reasonable judgment. Voluntariness ensures that participants can freely decide without any undue influence or pressure (Hyatt & Lobmaier, 2020).

In my study, participants were provided full disclosure and voluntarily chose to participate. To ensure full disclosure, participants were thoroughly informed about the purpose, methods, potential benefits, and possible risks associated with their involvement in the study before they decided to participate. They were also informed that they could withdraw their participation at any time without facing any consequences, thereby promoting transparency and ethical integrity in the research process. I adhered to ethical principles such as respect for persons, benevolence, and justice, as outlined in the Belmont Report. Participants were informed of their freedom to withdraw from the study at any point if they felt uncomfortable, with the contact information provided to communicate their decision. The right to withdraw was communicated at the beginning of the interview. The right to withdraw is universally recognized to protect participants from potential harm during the research (Favaretto et al., 2020).

Participants were encouraged to join voluntarily, knowing that their insights could improve the protection of blockchain applications and add to the IT body of knowledge. The consent form clarified that participants were only required to share their knowledge of the research topic and that their involvement carried no risks. To ensure confidentiality, participant identities were anonymized using codes, with a passwordprotected Excel spreadsheet and encryption for storage. All collected data were encrypted and stored securely, following data protection guidelines, and were set to be destroyed after five years.

# **Data Collection**

# Instruments

My study's data collection tool were the semi-structured interview protocol, a qualitative instrument designed to gain insights into IT professionals' experiences, views, and practices in implementing blockchain technologies (Biasutti et al., 2022). The

protocol included open-ended questions tailored to explore the strategies these professionals used and the challenges they faced. In a qualitative research interview, the researcher aims to understand what the participants said to gather their experiences, perceptions, thoughts, and feelings (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). This tool did not produce numerical scores; its value lay in the rich, descriptive data it yielded. The validity of this instrument was assessed through pilot testing, ensuring that the questions were clear, understandable, and relevant to the research questions. Raw data were available upon request from the researcher.

Each variable in this study comprised qualitative data derived from the interview responses. These included, but were not limited to, strategies adopted for blockchain integration, challenges encountered, perceived impact on system resilience, and recommended improvements in current practices. These variables provided a rich understanding of the study's focal points. For instance, 'strategies adopted for blockchain integration' referred to specific actions or approaches used by IT professionals in incorporating blockchain technologies into existing systems to increase resiliency.

In qualitative research like this one, traditional psychometric properties associated with quantitative scales, such as validity and reliability, translate into the trustworthiness and rigor of the data collection and analysis process. My study employed several strategies to ensure this trustworthiness. The trustworthiness of the research was one of those shared realities, albeit subjective, wherein readers and writers found commonality in their constructive processes (Stahl & King, 2020). For instance, to address the validity threats, I adopted member checking, where participants were invited to review and confirm the accuracy of the interview transcripts and preliminary findings. This helped ensure that the research accurately reflected their perspectives and experiences. In this context, I also employed consistent coding and interpretation paralleled test-retest reliability, which is more relevant to quantitative studies. The study used a systematic and transparent coding process to maintain internal consistency. Revisions to the interview protocol occurred based on the pilot testing feedback or during the iterative data collection and analysis process, where new insights necessitated modifications to the interview guide to better capture the research focus, which was performed in early courses in the curriculum.

#### **Data Collection Technique**

My research question was: What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems? To seek an answer, I concentrated on IT professionals who have supported enterprises for at least eight years in small to medium organizations with blockchain experience. The goal was to comprehend these professionals' strategies to support enterprise applications. This was achieved through conducting interviews and analyzing organizational documents related to IT support.

A semi-structured interview strategy was employed to facilitate the interviews, a method known for its inherent flexibility and reciprocity between the interviewer and interviewee. Eppich et al. argues (2019) that a well-crafted semi-structured interview guide would include predetermined questions while allowing flexibility to explore emergent topics based on the research question. This format allowed for spontaneous follow-up questions based on the responses received, contributing to the depth and

richness of the data collected. Additionally, video interviews provided the interviewer with valuable social cues such as body language, voice tone, and other non-verbal information, which aided in a more nuanced understanding of the participant's perspectives.

The data collection strategy was divided into several phases. The initial phase involved establishing the suitability of semi-structured interviews for this research question, as these interviews are particularly effective in eliciting participants' experiences, thoughts, and feelings. The semi-structured interview is an exploratory interview used most often in the social sciences for qualitative research purposes (Magaldi & Berler, 2020). The subsequent phase involved updating my understanding of the subject matter through relevant literature and seminar papers and setting a conceptual groundwork for the interviews. This was followed by developing a semi-structured interview guide consisting of predetermined open-ended questions and follow-up queries. This interview guide was tested before implementation to ensure clarity and effectiveness.

The final phase encompassed the interviews themselves. Participants were given a thorough briefing and were required to provide their consent before commencing the interviews. Post-interview, additional meetings were scheduled with participants for member-checking, a process that facilitated the validation of qualitative results by allowing participants to confirm the accuracy of their responses. This iterative process was repeated until no new information emerged.

# **Data Organization Techniques**

It was critical in qualitative research to manage data effectively, as this was key to the success of any study. Data needed to be analyzed to lend meaning to the research, and it also needed to be securely stored throughout the study period and appropriately disposed of afterward. As Saldana (2015) argued, qualitative data analysis searched for general statements about relationships and underlying themes. In line with this perspective, I encrypted the data from the study interviews using a robust data protection software product. These files were then stored on a cloud-based platform for additional protection against damage or theft. Physical data copies were securely stored in a locked safe throughout the study and were returned to the participants upon completion. Following the university's guidelines, all transcribed data will be disposed of after five years. Similarly, video and audio recordings were destroyed after transcription to ensure participant confidentiality.

All collected data forms, including recorded interviews, field notes, and organizational documents, were organized using a software solution. This software enabled efficient coding, labeling, categorization, and theme development within one consolidated platform. The software also provided a logbook feature, a research diary recording the study's progression. I used the MAXQDA 2022 software to organize this information. Woods, Paulus, Atkins, and Macklin (2016) highlighted that "Technological tools can assist in the organization and analysis of qualitative data, enhancing the rigor and depth of qualitative research." Coding in MAXQDA 12 was intuitive, and the program offered multiple options for open and focused coding procedures (Oswald, 2019).

The initial step involved uploading the interview audio files and related data into

the software. I generated verbatim text from the audio using the software's transcription capabilities. Data exploration commenced as soon as it was collected and uploaded into the system. The software's memo function facilitated the addition of notes and comments throughout the process. As Silverman (2017) suggested, the software could facilitate data organization, enhance analytical reflexiveness, and assist in presenting findings. I used the software's coding and categorization function, which allowed themes to emerge as coding and categorization progressed gradually. All processes and steps throughout the study were meticulously documented using the software's built-in logbook.

#### **Data Analysis Technique**

This research aimed to understand IT professionals' strategies to support enterprise applications and how blockchain technology might boost resiliency. These meanings and understandings were inherently qualitative and procured through a semistructured interview and other qualitative data sources, such as an organization's policy documents (Kallio et al., 2016). I utilized the MAXQDA software to consolidate all collected data into a single location, thus simplifying access for analysis.

The recorded interview audio was transcribed verbatim to ensure accuracy and completeness, capturing every spoken word. In addition to interviews, organizational documents such as policies were captured and stored. These documents were scanned and converted into an electronic format if they were paper-based and then examined for their potential to answer the research questions.

The use of method and data triangulation ensured the truthfulness of the analysis and rigor of the research. Triangulation enabled the use of multiple data sources to gain a comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon and to ensure the validity of the research. Triangulation ensured that the information derived from research data accurately reflected the truth (Moon, 2019). This study used a semi-structured interview and documents to collect data. This multiple case study involved interviews with different individuals in various cases, making the use of data triangulation appropriate.

The data set were analyzed using a five-step procedure. These steps included data logging, creating anecdotes, vignettes, data coding, and thematic analysis. Research showed that vignettes were useful in disseminating complex and applied information to practitioners, with research mainly utilizing written and audio vignettes to disseminate good practices (Szedlak, 2019). Data logging involves documenting the raw data collected from all sources and identifying all issues. Anecdotes of the collection were then created to help develop the themes. The next step was to develop vignettes of the investigation to provide a deeper understanding of the phenomenon. Following this, the collected data were coded by assigning tags to related themes from different sources. The MAXQDA qualitative software was used to facilitate this process.

Finally, thematic analysis was used to make sense of the collected data. The goal of thematic analysis was to identify patterns in a qualitative dataset and to explore an individual's understanding or interpretation of a concept. The major themes that emerged were defined using knowledge gained from literature. Themes were conceptualized from the categories of codes to create meanings that could be determined based on literature and interpreted beyond the types of data for more significant purposes by linking the raw data to research literature. Themes then constituted some form of codebook or template,

which enabled a structured approach to data interpretation (Cassell & Bishop, 2019). The discussion of these major themes considered inputs from current studies related to the research topic.

# **Reliability and Validity**

Ensuring research reliability and validity was paramount to creating a high-quality and practical knowledge base in any subject matter. The capacity of a qualitative study to effectuate emancipatory goals or facilitate social action could be gauged by its validity (McCabe & Holmes, 2009). Therefore, robust measures to guarantee the validity of research were not merely advisable but imperative. Conversely, if the quality of a qualitative study was compromised, it might result in unreliable data, leading to inaccurate conclusions and misunderstandings.

Unlike in quantitative research, where the validity and reliability depended on the instrument's design, a qualitative research study's quality largely relied on the researcher, who played a role similar to the instrument in the research process. Validity and reliability were inseparable concepts in this context, represented by terms like credibility, transferability, and trustworthiness (Kettunen & Tynjälä, 2018).

For instance, the concept of reliability, as utilized in quantitative studies, might not apply to qualitative research, which should preferably adopt consistency instead. On the other hand, the validity of qualitative studies should have been determined by the appropriateness of the tools, processes, and data involved. This implied that the research question, the chosen methodology, the design of the study, the sampling and data analysis methods, and finally, the drawn conclusions had to all be valid for the intended outcome, sample, and context.

Various strategies were employed to ensure credibility in this study, including those that considered most of the reliability and validity definitions, as discussed earlier. It was also observed that validation procedures needed to be integrated into the ongoing research process rather than implemented post-facto, allowing potential threats to validity to be addressed during the study.

# Reliability

Reliability in qualitative research refers to the consistency, stability, and replicability of the researcher's observations and findings (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021). It's about ensuring that the data collection and analysis methods would yield similar results if the study were replicated under similar conditions. Unlike quantitative research, where reliability is often tied to metrics like test-retest reliability, inter-rater reliability, or internal consistency, qualitative research focuses on trustworthiness and authenticity, ensuring the researchers' interpretations are true to the participants' experiences and perspectives (Curtin & Fossey, (2007).

An essential aspect of achieving reliability in qualitative research is the use of rigorous methodological procedures. These include triangulation, peer debriefing, member checking, and keeping a thorough audit trail. Triangulation involves using multiple data sources, methods, investigators, or theories to cross-verify findings (Sridharan, 2021). Peer debriefing allows for an external check of the research process, and member checking entails returning to the participants for confirmation of the findings or interpretations. The audit trail includes detailed documentation of the steps taken in the

data collection and analysis processes to ensure transparency and reproducibility.

Despite these strategies, critics often argue that the subjectivity inherent in qualitative research compromises its reliability (O'Connor & Joffe, 2020). However, qualitative research aims not to achieve statistical generalizability but to delve deeply into a phenomenon and understand the intricacies of human behavior and experience. The consistency or reliability of qualitative research should therefore be seen in terms of the coherence of the findings, the depth of insight generated, and the resonance of the results with the participants' experiences. As such, dependability and confirmability are often used in qualitative research, emphasizing the need for the research process and findings to be logical, traceable, and documented.

## Validity

To enhance the validity of my qualitative study, I employed several strategies. One such strategy was member checking, where researchers presented their interpretations to the participants to verify the accuracy of their understanding. However, the use of member checking was infused with assumptions about reality and knowledge production that sat (conceptually) uncomfortably with reflexive TA—including the notion that there was a truth of participants' experiences that could be accessed if the potentially distorting effects of researcher influence were kept in check (Braun & Clarke, 2023). Triangulation, which involved collecting data from multiple sources, using various methods, or employing different theoretical perspectives, was another strategy I employed to enhance validity. Additionally, I engaged in reflexivity, a process of continually reflecting on and critically examining my biases, theoretical predispositions, preferences, and so forth, that might affect the research process and findings. Reflexivity allowed me to recognize, understand, and control my potential influences on the research, enhancing its validity (Berger, 2015).

However, there were complexities around validity in qualitative research. Some qualitative researchers argued that traditional notions of validity did not apply to qualitative research due to its inherently interpretive and context-dependent nature (Selvi, 2019). Instead, they used alternative terms like trustworthiness, credibility, transferability, and confirmability. The use of these alternative terms underscored the epistemological differences between quantitative and qualitative research, with the latter prioritizing deep, contextualized, and interpretive understanding of human experiences over generalizability, predictability, and control. Despite these differences, the central concern for both qualitative and quantitative research remained the same: producing accurate, credible, and insightful knowledge about the phenomena of interest.

### Credibility

I used the triangulation technique to bolster credibility and minimize biases in my study. This involved incorporating multiple and diverse data sources to achieve convergence. Combining different methods, like case studies and document analysis, yielded richer data and heightened authenticity. Triangulation resulted in a comprehensive set of findings, enhancing the credibility of my research (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014). Furthermore, Fusch and Ness (2015) asserted there was a direct correlation between data saturation and triangulation, with data triangulation being a strategy to ensure data saturation. Member checking served as an effective way to prevent misinterpretation of participants' insights. This process involved presenting participants with the data and my interpretation, allowing them to confirm or correct their intended meanings. This was a crucial check for validation in qualitative research, as it reflected the socially constructed reality and depicted what the participants perceived. The benefit of member checking was that it could reinforce the data and lend more credibility to my study.

Collecting a diverse and detailed data set facilitated a comprehensive understanding of participants. This data included what participants said, did, wrote, or produced. In my case, interviews, documents, and field notes were used (Namey, Guest, Thairu, & Johnson, 2018). Gathering sufficient data provided a complete depiction of the phenomenon. Furthermore, ensuring rich data granted detailed insight into the cases or phenomena under study (Bowen, 2020). To reduce research biases and improve my study, debriefing sessions with a trusted peer were held (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). Moreover, sharing the study reports with the participants post-research to explain the results aided in reinforcing my understanding and interpretation. Such sessions were known to lessen biases and enhance the truth value (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016).

### Transferability

Thick descriptions are critical in rendering a study transferable. These detailed accounts assist readers in determining the truth-value of the research. Providing rich details about the context also improves the transferability of the study (Elo, Kääriäinen, Kanste, Pölkki, Utriainen, & Kyngäs, 2014). Transferability can be further enhanced by employing purposeful sampling methods and providing a detailed description of the process. It's also recommended to transcribe the interview verbatim for future reference, and ensure the analysis process is documented comprehensively. To ensure transferability, these suggestions are meticulously adhered to in the study.

#### **Confirmability/Dependability**

A transparent and precise description of the research process, starting from the initial outline to the development of the method and, finally, reporting of findings, contributes to the confirmability of a study. It is also beneficial to maintain a research diary, documenting issues and challenges encountered during the process and how they were resolved (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). This approach strengthens the connection between the study's aim, design, and methods. Moreover, discussing emerging themes with experts in an open process helps challenge assumptions and reach a consensus.

To enhance dependability and confirmability, tracking and documenting the research processes from beginning to end is crucial. This thorough documentation facilitates the production of detailed and transparent reports at the conclusion of the study (Nowell, Norris, White, & Moules, 2017). An excellent transparent report of the research steps taken throughout the project enhances the study's credibility and dependability. Maintaining an audit trail is a key strategy for establishing the confirmability of qualitative findings. The confirmability of a study can be improved by incorporating an audit trail of the research to demonstrate that the study was conducted with substantial care, thus improving its trustworthiness.

#### **Transition and Summary**

This qualitative multi-case study investigates the strategies utilized by IT professionals to strengthen blockchain technologies, consequently improving system resiliency. The targeted demographic comprises IT professionals from infrastructure and development teams across the United States. The research may highlight deficiencies in the resiliency of IT systems within organizations and the potential of blockchain technology to mitigate such risks. By demonstrating this, the study may suggest that business leaders must devise a resilient IT architecture that addresses potential inadequacies in IT infrastructure and procedures. This, in turn, could have societal implications by potentially minimizing the downtime of crucial IT platforms, such as hospital systems, essential supply chains, and utility services. My technology industry experience and interest in applying blockchain as a data layer for micro-service applications informed the study's focus. In Section 3, I will delve into a detailed discussion of the results derived from the collected interview data. This analysis will aid in formulating conclusions from the data. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

## Introduction

This qualitative, multiple case study was conducted to investigate the strategies employed by IT security managers for the secure deployment of blockchain technology. Data for this study were gathered through semistructured interviews with four IT Professionals from companies specializing in blockchain and a review of company documents. Data analysis revealed three main themes: (a) decentralization, (b) privacy, and (c) transaction speed. This study helps to understand how IT professionals can support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems. Additionally, it discusses the role of decentralized architectures in enhancing system resilience and reducing vulnerabilities associated with centralized models. Furthermore, the study sheds light on the practical implications and challenges faced by IT professionals in adapting and implementing blockchain technologies within established IT infrastructures. In this section, I delve into the findings, their relevance to professional practice, their social change implications, action recommendations, suggestions for subsequent research, and a conclusion.

#### **Presentation of the Findings**

The research question for this study was "What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems?" My target population was IT professionals from the development and infrastructure teams with blockchain experience in the United States. I used a purposeful sampling strategy to select and interview four IT professionals within two companies specializing in blockchain technology in the smart contract industry, all of whom possess extensive experience in blockchain systems. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and a comprehensive review of company documents to achieve triangulation. Member checking was performed with the participants to validate the interpretations of their input. Data saturation were confirmed when data collection reached a point where no new themes emerged. The collected data were analyzed using a five-step procedure comprising data logging, anecdotes, vignettes, data coding, and a thematic network (Akinyode, 2018).

All participants were voluntary and consented to join the study by stating "yes" in the audio recording. Pseudonyms were used to protect the identities of the participants' names (P1-P4), and their company names (C1-C2) are confidential. Each company provided two participants. P1 and P2 are in C1, and P3 and P4 are in C2. Each participant was interviewed for about 45 minutes using Microsoft Teams. The video interviews were transcribed using Microsoft Teams and Supernormal notetaker. All documentation and transcription were uploaded into the MAXQDA document system to analyze and develop themes on the given data. The results align with the literature review's change management theory and analysis.

### **Theme 1: Decentralization**

Decentralization is a cornerstone for building resilient systems by eliminating single points of failure, characteristic of centralized models, which are vulnerable to attacks and system downtimes (Aoun et al., 2021). In a decentralized system, data and control are distributed across a network of nodes, ensuring that the compromise or failure of one node does not jeopardize the entire system. Through a decentralized protocol, the owners have absolute authority over their resources and have the right to exchange assets with anyone at any time (Hazari & Mahmoud, 2020). IT professionals leverage this principle, implementing strategies that distribute data and control to mitigate the risks associated with centralized models and foster environments that are less susceptible to attacks. This architecture also fosters enhanced security and robustness, requiring consensus among multiple nodes to validate transactions or make changes, making it inherently resistant to fraudulent activities and cyber-attacks. Furthermore, IT professionals ensure that decentralized systems maintain adaptability and can recover swiftly from adverse situations, which is paramount for maintaining system functionality and resilience. By reducing reliance on a central authority and fostering a more democratic and robust infrastructure, decentralization is pivotal in cultivating system resilience.

The participants discussed the concept of decentralization and how it can benefit the resilience of enterprise systems. For example, P1 discussed the uses of applicationspecific blockchains within a broader blockchain environment: "You can launch application-specific chains, including those tailored for gaming, all using the C1 Zero technology. These chains can then employ inter-blockchain communication and zeroknowledge roll-ups to validate transactions." P2 affirmed this observation by referencing blockchains having the same underlying technology to enable easier adoption for enterprise applications by using an open-source platform: "We use an open-source blockchain protocol named Antelope, developed by a talented team of engineers." The shared insights from P1 and P2 highlight the versatility and adaptability of blockchain technologies, specifically through utilizing application-specific chains and open-source protocols, which are integral in fostering resilience and facilitating smoother adoption in enterprise applications.

Another aspect of resiliency discussed was the limitation of blockchain technologies and data storage. Since the blockchains require that the ledger is duplicated among a set of decentralized validators, the database exists within each validator to bring a consensus to each transaction (Yang et al., 2020). For example, P3 provided the following example: "You're not going to be able to throw a multi-terabyte database from an enterprise onto a blockchain quite as easily." P4 affirmed this limitation with the following observation:

Not all data needs to be put on chain but can be cross-verified by a piece of data that is onchained. You can basically spin up a server for the period of time you need it to be this large amount of data processing.

The reflections from P3 and P4 underscore the challenges of integrating large-scale databases into blockchain technologies, emphasizing the necessity for selective on-chain data storage and validation.

The participants' findings elucidate several strategies IT professionals employ to harness blockchain technologies for building resilient systems. As highlighted by P1 and P2, one prominent strategy is the development and utilization of application-specific blockchains within a broader blockchain environment, leveraging technologies such as C1 with Antelope. This approach, underpinned by decentralization, inter-blockchain communication, and zero-knowledge roll-ups, showcases the versatility and adaptability of blockchain, which are crucial for fostering resilience. Additionally, using open-source platforms facilitates smoother adoption, especially in enterprise applications, by ensuring that diverse applications can be easily integrated, thus enhancing the overall resilience and versatility of the systems.

On the other hand, the insights from P3 and P4 shed light on the limitations and challenges associated with blockchain technologies, particularly in data storage. The inherent requirement of blockchain for duplicating ledgers among decentralized validators poses challenges for integrating multi-terabyte databases from enterprises. This necessitates a selective approach to on-chain data storage and validation, emphasizing the need for innovative solutions to manage large-scale data while maintaining the integrity and security of the system. Strategies such as spinning up servers for temporary data processing, as suggested by P4, exemplify the adaptive measures taken by IT professionals to circumvent these challenges and ensure the resilience and functionality of blockchain-enabled systems.

Navigating the challenges and potentials of blockchain technologies, participant reflections, and strategies inadvertently intersect with Kruger's change management theory or the change iceberg. Kruger framed change management as an iceberg: above the waterline are visible elements like technical problems, while beneath it are less observable factors like attitudes and fears that can profoundly obstruct change initiatives. Participant dialogues articulate strategies, such as selective data deployment onto blockchains (P3 and P4) and utilizing application-specific chains and open-source protocols (P1 and P2), which adeptly address visible technical challenges—the iceberg's tip. However, these strategies also illuminate sophisticated approaches toward managing overt technical aspects; their success is fundamentally linked to managing submerged elements like organizational culture and individual attitudes toward new technologies. Consequently, a nuanced exploration of Kruger's iceberg underscores the imperative to align technical strategies with a thorough comprehension and management of underlying beliefs and cultural nuances among the IT professional community and organizational environments to holistically foster and sustain resilient blockchain systems, ensuring professional strategies to bolster technical robustness and system resilience are symbiotically harmonized with organizational strategies that navigate and transform the concealed, human, and cultural dynamics.

The adoption of application-specific blockchains and open-source protocols, as discussed by P1 and P2, addresses the surface-level of the iceberg by providing technical solutions that enhance the versatility and adaptability of blockchain technologies. By employing technologies like Antelope, IT professionals manage change's visible, technical aspects, foster resilience, and facilitate smoother adoption in enterprise applications. Consequently, IT professionals are addressing immediate technological needs and navigating the broader challenges of integrating blockchain into existing organizational infrastructures, thereby aligning technical functionality with organizational strategy and operational flow. However, the insights from P3 and P4 underscored the need for innovative solutions, as integrating these technological strategies in real-world applications potentially brings forth hidden challenges. For instance, it can be difficult to

establish trust in these novel approaches, reshape organizational norms around data storage and security, and redefine roles and responsibilities within the IT professional community. Hence, though the interviewees did not explicitly mention beliefs and attitudes, it is implied that successful strategy integration, as alluded to by the technical solutions of P3 and P4, would require navigating through the submerged aspects of Krüger's iceberg to ensure coherent and sustainable implementation within an organization's existing cultural and structural paradigm. As organizations navigate the course toward leveraging blockchain technologies for bolstering resilience, the integration of technical strategies and the concurrent transformation of underlying organizational structures and cultural norms emerge not merely as a parallel process but as a co-evolving phenomenon, where technological solutions and organizational change are intertwined in a dance, each shaping and being shaped by the other, towards fostering a resilient, secure, and privacy-preserving decentralized digital future.

### **Theme 2: Privacy**

Blockchain technology stands at the forefront of addressing privacy concerns, offering myriad solutions to safeguard data and enhance the security of digital transactions. As the digital landscape evolves, IT professionals are exploring innovative strategies to harness blockchain's potential to fortify privacy within systems, thus contributing to overall resilience (Zhang et al., 2019). The inherent characteristics of blockchain, such as decentralization, encryption, and immutability, serve as foundational elements in establishing secure and private environments. Privacy includes links between transactions that should not be visible or discoverable (Feng et al., 2019). With this in mind, the research question, "What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems?" guides an exploration into the diverse approaches employed by IT professionals to leverage blockchain's privacy features, aiming to uncover how these strategies contribute to the development of robust and resilient systems. This inquiry explored the intricate balance between transparency and privacy that blockchain presents, exploring how IT professionals navigate this dynamic to optimize system security and data protection.

When considering public blockchains, it is important to also consider that the data stored on this database are publicly exposed. For example, P2 made the following observation on privacy with blockchain networks:

Privacy concepts in blockchain are often misunderstood. Many assume these features exist by default, but they currently don't. While there are technological methods to introduce some level of privacy, it's generally a situation where transactions are anonymous until they aren't. Consider the traditional banking systems and regulations like GDPR, which prevent public disclosure of individuals' salaries. However, if salaries were distributed via blockchain, once someone identifies an account with an employee, that salary becomes public knowledge. Thus, there are certain privacy limitations in current blockchain technologies. However, emerging tools, like zero-knowledge proofs, may offer solutions in the future.

P1 affirmed this concern with the following statement: "Large commercial industries see a lot of value in their data, and they don't want other people to get access to it." P4 also stated, "If your data is intended to be private. Blockchain technologies aren't going to be private by default." P3 further noted, "When using blockchain technology, organizations must differentiate between information that can be made public and what should remain private." And P3 stated that he has not seen any blockchain technologies addressing privacy concerns.

When interpreting these findings through the lens of Krüger's change management (change iceberg) theory, it becomes apparent that addressing the challenges associated with privacy in public blockchains encompasses both visible and hidden layers of change (Bedrii, 2020). Krüger's theory underscores the importance of acknowledging not just the overt, technical challenges (the tip of the iceberg), but also the covert, deeper issues related to people's attitudes, fears, and the organizational culture and norms (below the surface; Bedrii, 2020). In light of Krüger's change management theory, which asserts that observable phenomena (e.g., behaviors or technologies) are frequently underscored by obscured motivational forces and structures (such as cultural paradigms and implicit regulations), privacy predicaments inherent to public blockchains may be construed not merely as a technological difficulty, but as an organizational problem that infiltrates more profound structural and cultural strata (Kruger, 2022). Participants P1 and P4 underscored a crucial observation: entities, particularly within expansive commercial sectors, prioritize their data confidentiality and exhibit an inherent hesitancy toward overt dissemination. This aversion is not merely a superficial challenge (the overt part of the iceberg in Krüger's conceptualization) but also encompasses more cryptic, intangible apprehensions, including confidence in the technology, organizational preparedness for

transparency, and potential incongruities with prevailing data protection norms, such as the General Data Protection Regulation and the California Consumer Privacy Act with implementation dates in 2018 and 2020 (Li et al., 2020).

Within the comprehensive schema of blockchain adoption, safeguarding privacy transcends the mere implementation of technological solutions. It concurrently demands an organizational metamorphosis that harmonizes with extant privacy norms and values, necessitating a navigation and potential modification of the underlying structures and cultural norms (the submerged portion of Krüger's iceberg) (Bedrii, 2020). This necessitates meticulous scrutiny and possible reconfiguration of prevailing systems, philosophies, and practices pertinent to data privacy within organizations, synchronously aligning with technological progress to ensure that privacy remains inviolate when utilizing a public blockchain. Consequently, the interview data unveil a poignant confluence where technological progression and organizational change management must amalgamate to navigate the perceptible privacy challenges proffered by blockchain technologies proficiently.

However, beneath this technical layer lie deeper, more covert challenges. The participants' concerns about the potential exposure of sensitive information, such as salaries, and the reluctance of commercial industries to share valuable data, point to underlying fears and attitudes that need to be addressed. These sentiments indicate a need for a shift in perception and understanding of privacy within the blockchain domain, which aligns with the submerged aspects of the change management theory, emphasizing attitudes, beliefs, and fears. Navigating through the narratives of P1 through P4, a

palpable apprehension emerges, reflecting a trepidation toward potential inadvertent disclosure of information, revealing an inherent skepticism towards blockchain's capability to safeguard privacy - a fundamental aspect deeply ingrained within organizational culture and data management beliefs. P2's observation highlights a tangible fear: the tension between the theoretical anonymity of blockchain transactions and the stark reality that, once deciphered, these transactions become irrevocably public, thereby surfacing beliefs that privacy cannot be unequivocally assured within the current technological framework. Security and privacy of blockchains continue to be at the center of the debate when deploying blockchain in different applications (Zhang et al., 2019). P4's assertion encapsulates anticipatory anxiety grounded in the belief that despite the ostensibly private nature of blockchain, in reality, sensitive data is perpetually at risk, accentuating an overarching belief and fear matrix that privacy within the blockchain, in its present state, is paradoxically public, highlighting an urgent call for technological and organizational alignment to mitigate these concerns and navigate the treacherous waters of privacy assurance.

Moreover, the concerns expressed by P1, P3, and P4 about the limitations of existing blockchain technologies in addressing privacy reflect an organizational culture and norms aspect. Organizations and industries must undergo a cultural shift to prioritize and value privacy, aligning their norms and practices with the evolving capabilities of blockchain technologies. This transformation aligns with the deepest layer of Kruger's iceberg, requiring reevaluating values and norms to manage change successfully (Kruger, 2022). As highlighted by participants, barriers to this requisite cultural shift towards privacy encompass tangible and intangible facets, such as prevailing misunderstandings about blockchain's inherent privacy capacities and an ingrained reluctance to diverge from traditional data management frameworks due to skepticism toward new technologies. Moreover, the dichotomy between existing norms, which are primarily rooted in traditional, centralized data management systems, and the decentralized, immutable nature of blockchain erects a formidable barrier, necessitating not only a technological adaptation but also a fundamental reorientation and realignment of organizational values, beliefs, and norms toward data privacy and management in the blockchain realm.

Addressing the privacy concerns in public blockchain technologies necessitates a multifaceted approach, encompassing both technical solutions and shifts in attitudes, beliefs, and organizational culture, as highlighted by Krüger's change management theory (Bedrii, 2020). By considering and addressing both the visible and hidden dimensions of change, a more comprehensive and effective approach to managing privacy in blockchain can be realized.

As the discourse regarding privacy in blockchain technologies unfolds, a complex tableau surfaces, unveiling not just the overt technical conundrums but also the covert challenges entwined in organizational culture, attitudes, and underlying fears, effectively illuminated by Krüger's change management theory (Kruger, 2022). This exploration, steered by the insights shared by participants P1 through P4, heralds a crucial appreciation of the privacy challenges in blockchain, which although palpably technological, are also deeply interlaced with hidden dimensions of change. While blockchain presents an ostensibly decentralized and secure environment, concerns regarding the actualization of true privacy pervade, as exemplified by potential exposures of sensitive data and the tangible apprehension within industries regarding the public visibility of certain information (Feng et al., 2019).

Addressing these apprehensions and navigating through the murky waters of privacy assurance within blockchain technologies necessitates a synchronized dance between advancing technological capabilities and maneuvering through organizational changes, entailing an alignment of both the visible and submerged aspects of change (Bedrii, 2020). The subsequent path forward beckons a comprehensive alignment of technological strategies with cognizant, empathetic navigation through the existing fears, beliefs, and organizational norms that may otherwise form concealed icebergs, obstructing blockchain technologies' seamless adoption and optimization. Therefore, the task ahead for IT professionals and organizational leaders pivots on conjointly ensuring technical robustness while also crafting a navigational map that diligently addresses and steers through the submerged, often unseen, cultural and emotional terrains to holistically embed and optimize blockchain technologies within a framework that is resilient, secure, and privacy-assured.

# **Theme 3: Transaction Speed**

In exploring blockchain technologies' role in fostering resilient systems, a pivotal consideration emerges around the impact of transaction speeds. This factor is intrinsic to the performance and efficiency of blockchain networks, influencing how swiftly data can be processed, validated, and recorded on the ledger. Slow transaction speeds can act as a

bottleneck, potentially compromising the responsiveness and adaptability of the system (Li et al, 2020). In contrast, faster speeds can enhance the system's ability to manage high volumes of data and respond to challenges effectively. With the research question, "What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems?" in focus, this study delves into the significance of optimizing transaction speeds within blockchain technologies and how IT professionals strategize to balance speed with decentralization and privacy, thereby contributing to the overall resilience of the systems they support. This exploration aims to uncover the nuanced strategies employed and the challenges encountered in harmonizing transaction speeds with the diverse demands of resilient blockchain-based systems.

Regarding migrating enterprise databases to blockchain technology, P1 makes the following observation.

When considering migrating a Postgres database to the blockchain, it's a complex process and a significant endeavor. While it's possible to transfer a large amount of data onto a blockchain, it's time-intensive. Such a migration would immediately inflate the data for any indexers. The blockchain we've used can handle up to 15,000 EVM transactions per second.

P2 affirms this conclusion with the statement: "With decentralized execution, that whole concept of hundreds of nodes having to run all the same transactions and store all the same data. It's not really efficient to store large amounts of data on the blockchain." P3 also references the transaction speeds in comparing enterprise databases such as Postgres, in comparison with blockchain technologies with the following; "Postgres databases

could process more transactions at once, compared to blockchain technologies. Resources. P4 then asserts the transaction speed concern with blockchain technologies: "Within enterprise applications, data needs to be processed within 30 milliseconds." This is concerning when considering blockchain technologies process transactions within seconds to minutes, not milliseconds.

The observations made by the participants about migrating enterprise databases to blockchain technology can be comprehensively analyzed through Krüger's change management theory. This theory posits that successful change involves addressing the visible, technical aspects (the tip of the iceberg) and the underlying attitudes, beliefs, fears, and organizational culture and norms (beneath the surface).

At the tip of the iceberg, the technical challenges of migrating databases, such as data bloat and inefficiency in storing large amounts of data on the blockchain, are readily apparent. P1's remark on the complexity and time-consuming nature of the task and P2's affirmation of the inefficiency of decentralized execution elucidate these tangible, technical hurdles. Similarly, P3 and P4's concerns about transaction speeds further underscore the practical issues that need addressing.

Diving deeper beneath the surface, we encounter individuals' attitudes and beliefs. The participants' reflections reveal a prevailing skepticism and cautiousness regarding the feasibility and efficiency of integrating traditional databases with blockchain technology (Kruger, 2022). Addressing these concerns requires fostering a belief in the potential benefits and long-term efficiencies that blockchain can bring, even with its current limitations. Mitigating fears and cultivating a positive attitude toward the change is essential for successful implementation.

At the deepest layer, we find organizational culture and norms. The participants' observations suggest a potential clash between the established norms of enterprise applications, where data needs to be processed swiftly, and the emerging blockchain technologies. Organizations might need to reassess and realign their expectations and norms around data processing speeds and efficiency to integrate blockchain technologies successfully. Therefore, effectively managing the migration of enterprise databases to blockchain technologies necessitates a multifaceted approach. This involves addressing the overt technical challenges, transforming attitudes and beliefs about the technology, and aligning organizational norms and values with the new paradigm, as Krüger's change management theory underscored (Bedrii, 2020). A holistic and successful change management strategy can be developed by navigating through these different layers of the iceberg.

The given passage highlights the role of transaction speeds in blockchain technologies as crucial for developing resilient systems. The findings reveal specific strategies IT professionals implement to enhance transaction speeds within blockchain technologies. While prioritizing this optimization, they also meticulously navigate the intricate balance between ensuring decentralization and safeguarding privacy. In blockchain technology, decentralization refers to the distribution of control and operations across multiple nodes or participants, eliminating the need for a centralized authority. Meanwhile, privacy entails securing transactional and participant information from unauthorized access. Therefore, IT professionals engage in a delicate orchestration
of strategies that amplify transactional efficiency and uphold the pivotal aspects of decentralization and privacy, ensuring that one does not undermine the other. This balance is crucial in maintaining the integrity and functionality of blockchain systems within organizational settings. The optimization of transaction speeds is portrayed as intrinsic to the efficiency and performance of blockchain networks, affecting the system's responsiveness and ability to manage high volumes of data. The passage also references the complexity of migrating traditional enterprise databases like Postgres to the blockchain, pointing out the inefficiencies in storing large amounts of data on the blockchain and the challenges in processing speeds, which are integral to enterprise applications. The transaction verification process for cryptocurrencies is much slower than traditional digital transaction systems (Hazari & Mahmoud, 2020).

Relating to the research question, "What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems?" this passage underscores the significance of addressing transaction speed concerns in blockchain technologies. IT professionals face the challenge of harmonizing transaction speeds with the demands of resilient blockchain-based systems, particularly when migrating large enterprise databases. The insights from different professionals (P1-P4) illustrate the complexities and affirm the critical nature of transaction speeds, emphasizing the need for strategic approaches to leverage blockchain's capabilities for building resilient systems while also managing the inherent limitations and inefficiencies in data storage and processing.

In navigating the intricacies of optimizing blockchain technologies for resilient systems, transaction speeds' pivotal role, especially in migrating large enterprise databases, has been thoroughly examined. Various participant observations highlight the complexity, time-intensive nature, and inherent inefficiencies in dealing with expansive data within blockchain technologies, showcasing tangible technical challenges that IT professionals meticulously navigate. In amalgamating these insights with Krüger's change management theory, it is emphasized that beneath the overt technological challenges, deeper layers of attitudes, fears, and organizational norms significantly influence the successful implementation and management of blockchain technologies (Kruger, 2022).

The pivotal balance between ensuring data processing efficiency while maintaining decentralization and privacy propels IT professionals to conceive and implement nuanced strategies that not only address the visible, technical aspects of blockchain implementation but also gently navigate through the underlying beliefs, attitudes, and organizational norms, which can either facilitate or hinder the seamless incorporation of blockchain technologies within enterprise contexts (Bedrii, 2020). Therefore, the forward path leans towards crafting a holistic approach to implementing blockchain technologies, one that is firmly rooted in technical robustness while being tenderly entwined with an empathetic understanding and navigation through the emotional and cultural undercurrents of organizational change, ensuring that the technological adoption is not merely efficient but is also harmoniously embedded within the organizational milieu, thereby fostering genuinely resilient systems.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

The findings of this study provide a deep understanding of the strategies

employed by IT professionals to leverage the capabilities of blockchain technologies, particularly in creating resilient systems. A core theme is the value of decentralization, marking a decisive shift away from vulnerable centralized models. By distributing data and control, decentralization not only enhances security but also promotes adaptability (Abimbola, 2019). This is further highlighted by the growing interest in applicationspecific blockchains and the adoption of open-source protocols, emphasizing the versatility and adaptability of blockchain technologies.

However, the study does not shy away from recognizing significant challenges. The integration of large-scale databases into blockchain technologies presents logistical difficulties due to the inherent requirement of duplicating ledgers across validators. Innovative solutions, such as temporarily activating servers for data tracking, are among the approaches used to address these issues. Furthermore, application-specific blockchains and open-source protocols are viewed as instrumental tools to enhance adaptability and resilience in the blockchain arena.

Privacy, especially in the context of public blockchains, emerges as a pressing concern. The transparent nature of these blockchains can inadvertently expose data, leading to potential breaches of privacy. Technical solutions are being explored to address these privacy concerns without undermining the decentralized essence of blockchain. The theory by Krüger, which highlights both overt and covert challenges, offers a comprehensive perspective. Beyond just technical solutions, such as the integration of features like zero-knowledge proofs, there's a broader need to address societal attitudes, apprehensions, and the prevailing organizational culture surrounding privacy.

Performance metrics, especially transaction speeds, are vital in evaluating the practicality and efficiency of blockchain-based systems. Migrating databases presents unique challenges, and concerns arise about the potential inefficiencies inherent in decentralized execution. There's a recognized gap in transaction speeds when comparing traditional systems to blockchain technologies. Striking a balance between speed, decentralization, and privacy is a nuanced endeavor that IT professionals strive to perfect to enhance both the resilience and performance of the systems they oversee.

In the realm of IT, particularly in implementing blockchain technologies, the applicability of Krüger's change management theory becomes evident. On the surface, it might appear that the transition is primarily about technical integration — understanding the technological underpinnings, ensuring efficient transaction speeds, and optimizing data storage (Bedrii, 2020). These are akin to the "above water" portions of the iceberg, the overt challenges that are immediately identifiable. However, beneath these lie the more intricate, covert challenges. Adapting to blockchain technology might mean reshuffling organizational structures, addressing latent resistance from employees unfamiliar or uncomfortable with the new technology, or overcoming traditional mindsets that favor centralized over decentralized systems.

Furthermore, the deeper submerged issues — deeply ingrained organizational culture, subconscious fears, and individual concerns — resonate with the privacy challenges highlighted in the study (Bedrii, 2020). The overt challenge is to ensure data remains private and secure on the blockchain technically (Zhang et al., 2019). But

beneath that, there lies the need to reassure stakeholders, change attitudes towards data transparency, and address subconscious fears about the immutability of blockchain records. In light of Krüger's theory, the true efficacy of blockchain adoption lies in addressing the overt challenges and navigating and managing the more profound, hidden aspects of change.

In conclusion, the evolving landscape of IT and blockchain technologies presents both immense potential and multifaceted challenges. The value of decentralization, emphasizing security and adaptability, remains a beacon for innovation. However, as organizations wade through these uncharted waters, they must confront visible and submerged challenges, as Krüger's change management theory articulated (Bedrii, 2020). While technical challenges demand rigorous solutions, the deeply rooted, often covert, cultural, and psychological barriers will shape the trajectory of blockchain's adoption and integration. A holistic approach, which recognizes and addresses both the explicit and implicit dimensions of change, will be pivotal in harnessing the full potential of blockchain technologies, ultimately leading to resilient, efficient, and transparent systems for the future.

# **Implications for Social Change**

The ongoing evolution of blockchain technologies presents significant implications for social change, particularly in the domains of resilience, data security, and privacy. This evolution offers prospects for tangible improvements across individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, and societies.

# **Individuals and Communities**

The decentralization inherent in blockchain technologies represents a profound shift away from traditional centralized systems. For individuals and communities, this decentralization can be empowering. No longer bound by a single point of control, individuals can have increased ownership and influence over their data, transactions, and digital identities (Hazari & Mahmoud, 2020). In community settings, this technology can foster a more egalitarian atmosphere, as the power and control previously held by a few can be dispersed across the community. This democratization can enhance transparency, trust, and collaboration, thereby leading to stronger, more resilient communities.

# **Organizations and Institutions**

For businesses and institutions, the adaptability and resilience offered by blockchain technologies can lead to more robust and reliable systems. As highlighted by the research findings, IT professionals are focusing on application-specific blockchains and open-source platforms to ease adoption. The versatility of blockchain technologies ensures that organizations can maintain adaptability, recover swiftly from adverse situations, and have systems less susceptible to cyber-attacks (Feng et al., 2019). By moving away from single points of failure and employing decentralized structures, businesses can benefit from reduced downtimes, leading to increased productivity and profitability. Institutions, especially those that handle sensitive data, can implement blockchain for heightened security measures, ensuring data integrity and trust among stakeholders.

# **Cultures and Societies**

On a broader cultural and societal scale, the challenges highlighted, especially regarding privacy concerns, represent a call for increased awareness and understanding of the implications of digital technologies. Cultures must evolve to place a premium on data privacy, demanding that digital solutions, including blockchain, uphold the highest security standards. As society becomes more digitalized, fostering a culture of privacy and security becomes paramount, ensuring that individuals' rights and freedoms are maintained in an increasingly interconnected world. Additionally, the potential limitations of blockchain, such as data storage issues and transaction speeds, remind society of the importance of continuous innovation and adaptation to technological challenges (Li et al., 2020).

## **Improving Public Health Outcomes**

With blockchain-enhanced EHRs, patient data becomes more accessible and transparent across various health care providers. This can lead to improved medical outcomes, as health care professionals get a comprehensive view of a patient's medical history, enabling more informed decisions. Better health outcomes at the individual level can translate to healthier societies, reducing the burden on public health infrastructure and potentially lowering health care costs for individuals and governments (Abimbola, 2019).

# **Empowering Consumers**

In supply chain systems, blockchain's transparency gives consumers the power to make informed choices. Health companies are exploring the use of blockchain, a tamperproof and distributed digital ledger, to address some of these challenges (Velmovitsky, 2021). They can trace the origin of products, which can influence purchasing decisions, especially concerning ethically produced, sustainable, or genuine products. As consumers become more conscious and demand transparency, businesses are compelled to adopt ethical and sustainable practices, driving a shift towards more responsible production and consumption.

In conclusion, the burgeoning potential of blockchain technologies, combined with the challenges highlighted, offers an intriguing backdrop for social change. While the technology promises decentralization, enhanced security, and adaptability, it also brings forth challenges that society must address. By understanding and integrating these implications, there's an opportunity to catalyze positive transformations across individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, and societies. Blockchain is not just a technological innovation; it's a driver for holistic social change.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

The findings have unequivocally emphasized the significance of decentralization in creating resilient blockchain systems. For companies and IT professionals focused on leveraging blockchain for enhanced security, decentralization should be prioritized. For increased adaptability, application-specific chains and open-source protocols such as Antelope (previously EOSIO) should be explored. Enterprises should also consider training programs to foster deeper understanding and expertise. Blockchain industry stakeholders, such as software developers, IT managers, and tech entrepreneurs, should pay close attention to these findings. A possible method for disseminating these results might be through whitepapers, IT conferences, and webinars tailored for blockchain specialists.

With respect to data storage limitations on blockchain, the inherent challenge of incorporating large-scale databases into blockchain systems has been highlighted. IT professionals and decision-makers in organizations must be selective in deciding which data should be stored on-chain and which should remain off-chain (Khan et al., 2021). Block size can affect transaction throughput and latency, which can be indirectly linked to the consensus model. This calls for developing advanced tools and strategies to manage large-scale data effectively without compromising blockchain integrity. Given the technical nature of these challenges, software engineers, database administrators, and IT strategy heads should be particularly attentive to these findings. Technical workshops and database optimization seminars might be beneficial to communicate these results.

Privacy has emerged as a critical concern in the public blockchain domain. Investing in research and development for blockchain technologies that integrate advanced privacy features, such as zero-knowledge proofs, is imperative to counter this (Li et al., 2020). Organizations must also undergo a cultural shift to recognize and prioritize the value of privacy in blockchain systems. Given the wider implications of privacy, stakeholders ranging from IT professionals to top-tier management should heed these findings. These results could be shared via industry reports, training programs, and thought leadership articles emphasizing the importance of privacy in blockchain ecosystems.

The issue of transaction speed is at the forefront of blockchain efficiency and

resilience. The findings stress the need to strike a balance between speed,

decentralization, and privacy. Blockchain transaction throughput decreases with the increasing number of peers that validate consensus (Khan et al., 2021). Companies should consider technological solutions and strategies to optimize transaction speeds without compromising on the core principles of blockchain. IT professionals should closely consider these findings, especially those focused on performance optimization and infrastructure management. Sharing this information through benchmark reports, performance metric dashboards, and performance improvement workshops could effectively disseminate the results to the intended audience.

In addressing the research question, "What strategies do IT professionals use to support blockchain technologies to enable resilient systems?", the findings underscore four pivotal areas: decentralization's primacy, challenges in data storage, the imperative of privacy, and the balance needed between transaction speed, decentralization, and privacy. Decentralization emerges as a cornerstone for resilience, while data storage on blockchain necessitates discernment between on-chain and off-chain data. Privacy concerns in the public blockchain domain call for both technological advancements and cultural adaptation and transaction speed's significance is weighed against the foundational principles of blockchain.

When applied to these findings, Krüger's change management theory suggests that the overt challenges, such as privacy and transaction speeds, represent just the tip of the iceberg. Beneath the surface lie more profound organizational beliefs, perceptions, and values about decentralization, privacy, and data storage. To harness blockchain's potential for resilience, IT professionals must navigate the visible challenges and the underlying cultural and attitudinal shifts, ensuring a comprehensive, in-depth approach to blockchain technology adoption and optimization (Bedrii, 2020).

# **Recommendations for Further Study**

This study explored the pivotal role of decentralization in fostering resilience in blockchain technologies, primarily through implementing application-specific blockchains and open-source protocols. Participants P1 and P2 shared insights on the versatility and adaptability of such technologies, highlighting their potential to bolster system resilience. Given this foundational understanding, future research could delve deeper into the specific advantages and limitations of various application-specific blockchains, exploring how they cater to the unique requirements of different industry sectors. A comparative analysis of decentralized architectures, including C1's Antelope and other emerging technologies, could provide a richer perspective on optimizing resilience across various applications.

A recurring theme from participants P3 and P4 was the challenges of integrating large-scale databases into blockchain technologies. The inherent duplication of ledgers among decentralized validators poses a barrier to incorporating vast databases seamlessly (Hazari & Mahmoud, 2020). This finding points to the need for further study on innovative solutions that enable selective on-chain data storage while retaining the integrity, security, and resilience inherent to blockchain technologies. Research could explore mechanisms like temporary data servers or other adaptive storage solutions, evaluating their efficiency and scalability in real-world scenarios. A crucial area that surfaced during this study was the privacy vulnerabilities inherent to public blockchains. While blockchain technologies promise enhanced security through decentralization, encryption, and immutability, concerns persist about the potential exposure of sensitive information, as highlighted by participants P1, P3, and P4. Further research is warranted to delve into privacy-enhancing technologies within the blockchain domain, such as zero-knowledge proofs or advanced encryption techniques. Current blockchain technologies store sensitive data on the blockchain that would be accessible to anyone, resulting in a lack of privacy (Li et al., 2020). Additionally, a study could explore how organizational cultures and norms adapt to prioritize privacy in blockchain implementations, ensuring alignment with the evolving landscape.

The balance between transaction speed, decentralization, and privacy emerged as pivotal in ensuring blockchain resilience. Slow transaction speeds could compromise a system's responsiveness and adaptability, yet increasing speed might risk compromising other resilience factors (Hazari & Mahmoud, 2019). Participants P1, P2, P3, and P4 highlighted the intricacies and challenges of this balancing act. Given the significance of this balance, future studies could explore optimization strategies that harmonize these factors. A particular emphasis could be placed on how emerging blockchain technologies manage transaction speeds, ensuring rapid data processing while retaining the benefits of decentralization and enhanced privacy.

# Reflections

The research journey has been an exhilarating endeavor from a personal and professional standpoint. At the outset, I had underestimated the intricacies of identifying the study's ideal participants. This task was further complicated by the need to find participants possessing developer and infrastructure skillsets within a singular organization. Compounding this challenge was that blockchain technology, being in its nascent stages of adoption and advancement, meant that experts in the field were rare and continuously evolving in their understanding. To ensure objectivity and minimize potential influence over the study's outcomes, I stayed open-minded and strictly adhered to the predetermined interview questions. This consistency allowed me to identify recurring themes within the findings organically, ensuring that the insights drawn were genuine and uninfluenced by any leading on my part. Furthermore, engaging with such a dynamic field emphasized the importance of adaptability and resilience in research, teaching me to expect the unexpected and be prepared to pivot when necessary.

### **Summary and Study Conclusions**

The research sought to understand strategies utilized by IT professionals in the U.S. to harness blockchain technologies for creating resilient systems. Through semistructured interviews with security managers from two blockchain-specializing companies, the study identified decentralization as a key principle, enhancing resilience by distributing data across a network, thus reducing vulnerabilities. However, challenges emerged, such as the complexity of migrating large-scale databases to blockchains and the inefficiencies related to transaction speeds in decentralized models. This was highlighted by the blockchain's processing capacity, compared to traditional databases like Postgres, and the necessity for swift transaction times in enterprise applications. Additionally, concerns regarding the privacy of public blockchains were raised, indicating both technical challenges and deeper issues related to attitudes and organizational culture. The findings revealed limitations in current blockchain technologies, specifically related to database capacities, privacy measures, and the speed of transactions. These issues could impede an organization's transition to blockchain to establish robust systems. In Krüger's change management theory context, these challenges represent the "tip of the iceberg" or the overt technical problems. Beneath the surface, deeper challenges related to the privacy of public blockchains emerged. These concerns highlighted the technical difficulties and underlying issues connected to attitudes, fears, and organizational culture—the submerged aspects of Krüger's theory. Overall, while blockchain technologies offer notable advantages for system resilience, they also present challenges that necessitate multifaceted solutions, balancing technical adaptations with shifts in perceptions and practices.

### References

- Aalbers, S., Spreen, M., Pattiselanno, K., Verboon, P., Vink, A., & van Hooren, S.
  (2020). Efficacy of emotion-regulating improvisational music therapy to reduce depressive symptoms in young adult students: A multiple-case study design. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2020.101720</u>
- Abimbola, S., Baatiema, L., & Bigdeli, M. (2019). The impacts of decentralization on health system equity, efficiency and resilience: A realist synthesis of the evidence. *Health Policy and Planning*, *34*(8), 605–617.

https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czz055

- Adams, R. V., & Blair, E. (2019). Impact of time management behaviors on undergraduate engineering students' performance. Sage Open, 9(1), <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018824506</u>
- Akbar, N. A., Muneer, A., ElHakim, N., & Fati, S. M. (2021). Distributed hybrid doublespending attack prevention mechanism for proof-of-work and proof-of- stake blockchain consensuses. *Future Internet*, 13(11), 285.

https://doi.org/10.3390/fi13110285

- Alali, A., & Gao, S. (2021). A review of the resilience techniques in cloud computing. Journal of Cloud Computing: Advances, Systems and Applications, 10(1), 1–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13677-021-00244-8</u>
- Albsoul, R. A., FitzGerald, G., Hughes, J. A., & Ahmed Alshyyab, M. (2021). Missed nursing care and complexity theory: A conceptual paper. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 26(8), 809–823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/17449871211013073</u>

- Ali, S., Green, P., & Robb, W. (2020). The change game: Enablers and barriers to effective change management in a policing context. *Policing: An International Journal*, 43(5), 782–798. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-02-2019-0020</u>
- Alrawais, A., Alhothaily, A., & Cheng, X. (2020). Network security and resilience. In security, privacy and trust in the IOT environment (pp. 53–77). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42504-3\_3</u>
- Alvesson, M., & Sveningsson, S. (2015). *Changing organizational culture: Cultural change work in progress*. Routledge.
- Alzahrani, N., & Bulusu, N. (2020). Towards a secure and scalable blockchain network using proof of work and proof of stake based consensus mechanisms. *In 2020 IEEE International Conference on Blockchain and Cryptocurrency* (ICBC).
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1109/ICBC48266.2020.9169512">https://doi.org/10.1109/ICBC48266.2020.9169512</a>
- Alzahrani, A. G., Alhomoud, A., & Wills, G. (2022). A framework of the critical factors for healthcare providers to share data securely using blockchain. *IEEE Access*, 10, 41064–41077. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3162218</u>
- Al-Swidi, A., & Al-Hosam, A. (2018). The effect of entrepreneurial orientation on the organizational performance: The role of the strategic agility. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 26(4), 619–641.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOA-11-2016-1087

Andreassen, P., Christensen, M. K., & Moller, J. E. (2020). Focused ethnography as an approach in medical education research. *Medical Education*, 54(4), 296–302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14045</u>

- Andriole, S. J. (2020). Blockchain, cryptocurrency, and cybersecurity. *IT Professional*, 22(1), 13–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MITP.2019.2949165</u>
- Antony, J., Lizarelli, F. L., & Machado Fernandes, M. (2022). A global study into the reasons for lean six sigma project failures: Key findings and directions for further research. *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, Engineering Management, 69*(5), 2399–2414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2020.3009935</u>
- Aoun, A., Ilinca, A., Ghandour, M., & Ibrahim, H. (2021). A review of Industry 4.0 characteristics and challenges, with potential improvements using blockchain technology. *Computers & Industrial Engineering, 162*, 107746.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2021.107746">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2021.107746</a>

Atkinson, R. (1999). Project management: Cost, time, and quality, two best guesses and a phenomenon, it's time to accept other success criteria. *International Journal of Project Management*, 17(6), 337–342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0263-</u>

7863(98)00069-6

- Bărbulescu, A., & Boitan, I. (2019). Change management and project management in public organizations - an interconnection. *Management Research and Practice*, 11(4), 36–51.
- Bashir, I. (2017). *Mastering blockchain*. Packt Publishing.
- Bass, J. M., Beecham, S., & Noll, J. (2018). Experience of industry case studies: A comparison of multi-case and embedded case study methods. *In Proceedings of the 6th International Workshop on Conducting Empirical Studies in Industry* (pp. 13–20).

- Bano, S., Sonnino, A., Al-Bassam, M., Azouvi, S., McCorry, P., Meiklejohn, S., & Danezis, G. (2017). *Consensus in the age of blockchains*. arXiv preprint arXiv:1711.03936.
- Bedrii, D. (2020). Integrated anti-risk management of conflicts of a scientific project in a behavioral economics. *Scientific Journal of Astana IT University*, (3), 4-14.
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(2), 219-234.
- Bhattacharya, S., & Kaur, H. (2019). Managing change in organizations through ADKAR model. *International Journal of Social Science and Economic Research*, 4(9), https://doi.org/10.1109/6039-6046
- Biasutti, M., Antonini Philippe, R., & Schiavio, A. (2022). Assessing teachers' perspectives on giving music lessons remotely during the COVID-19 lockdown period. *Musicae Scientiae*, 26(3), 585-603.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1029864921996033

- Bilal, K., Khan, S. U., & Kolodziej, J. (2020). Network resilience in cloud and P2P services: issues, challenges, and solutions. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), 53(1), 1-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3371043</u>
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation?. *Qualitative health research*, 26(13), 1802-1811.
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, *19*(4), 426-432.

- Bowen, G. A. (2020). Qualitative inquiry and the assessment of meaning. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(4), 1083-1102. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol25/iss4/13/
- Bucata, G., Rizescu, A., & Barsan, L. (2021). Time Management: The Basic Concern in the organization. *Journal of Defense Resources Management*, *12*(2), 185–194.
- Burnes, B. (2015). Understanding Resistance to Change: Building on Coch and French. Journal of Change Management, 15(2), 92-116.
- Burnes, B., & Cooke, B. (2019). The past, present and future of organization development: Taking the long view. *Human Relations*, 72(8), 1235-1258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718804309</u>
- Bushe, G. R., & Marshak, R. J. (2018). The dialogic mindset in organization development. *Research in Organizational Change and Development*, 26, 55-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S0897-301620180000026002</u>
- Buterin, V. (2014). Ethereum: A next-generation smart contract and decentralized application platform. *Ethereum Project White Paper*, 1-40.
- Cameron, E., & Green, M. (2015). Making Sense of Change Management: A Complete Guide to the Models, Tools, and Techniques of Organizational Change. Kogan Page Publishers.
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(5), 545-547.
- Casino, F., Dasaklis, T. K., & Patsakis, C. (2019). A systematic literature review of blockchain-based applications: Current status, classification and open issues.
   *Telematics and Informatics*, 36, 55-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2018.11.006</u>

- Cassell, C., & Bishop, V. (2019). Qualitative Data Analysis: Exploring Themes, Metaphors and Stories. *European Management Review*, 16(1), 195–207.
   <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12176</u>
- Ceri, S., & Pelagatti, G. (2021). *Distributed databases: principles and systems*. McGraw-Hill Education.
- Christidis, K., & Devetsikiotis, M. (2016). Blockchains and smart contracts for the internet of things. *IEEE Access*, *4*, 2292-2303.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2016.2566339

Chowdhury, M. J. M., Colman, A., Kabir, M. A., Han, J., & Sarda, P. (2018). Blockchain versus database: a critical analysis. *IEEE international conference on big data science and engineering (TrustCom/BigDataSE)* (pp. 1348-1353). <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TrustCom/BigDataSE.2018.00186</u>

Cilliers, P. (2019). Complexity, Deconstruction and Relativism. Routledge.

- Clare, M. M. (2022). Qualitative Research Methods Render and Advance Consultation
   Practice: Here's Why that Matters. *Journal of Educational & Psychological Consultation*, 32(1), 9–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2020.1768859</u>
- Coghlan, D., & Brannick, T. (2019). *Doing action research in your own organization*. SAGE Publications.
- Coghlan, D., & Brydon-Miller, M. (Eds.). (2014). The SAGE encyclopedia of action research. Sage.
- Coghlan, D., & Shani, A. B. (2020). Creating action research quality in organization development: Rigorous, reflective, and relevant. *Organizational Dynamics*, 49(1),

100744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2020.100744

Cooperrider, D. L., & Godwin, L. N. (2019). Positive organization development:Innovation-inspired change in an economy and ecology of strengths. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 55(1), 13-30.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318801737

- Cragg, T., & Chraibi, S. (2020). Reviewing procurement: a change management model based on action research. *International Journal of Procurement Management*, 13(6), 737-755.
- Croman, K., Decker, C., Eyal, I., Gencer, A. E., Juels, A., Kosba, A., ... & Song, D.
  (2016). On scaling decentralized blockchains. *In International Conference on Financial Cryptography and Data Security* (pp. 106-125). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-53357-4\_8</u>
- Curtin, M., & Fossey, E. (2007). Appraising the trustworthiness of qualitative studies:
   Guidelines for occupational therapists. *Australian occupational therapy journal*, 54(2), 88-94.
- Daly, D., Hannon, S., & Brady, V. (2019). Motivators and challenges to research recruitment – A qualitative study with midwives. *Midwifery*, 74, 14–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.midw.2019.03.011</u>
- De Iuliis, Melissa, et al. "Downtime estimation of building structures using fuzzy logic." International journal of disaster risk reduction, 34 (2019), 196-208.
- Denning, S. (2020). Agile change management: A new approach to transformation. *Strategy & Leadership*, 48(1), 24-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SL-10-2019-0096</u>

Duan, W. H., Asif, M., Nik Mahmood, N. H., & Wan Zakaria, W. N. (2023). Emotional intelligence and high-performance leadership of women leaders: the mediating role of organization culture. *Management Research Review*, 46(1), 100–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-06-2021-0419</u>

Elo, T. M., Ruutu, S., Arzoglou, E., Kortesniemi, Y., Lagutin, D., Hoseini, V., & Polyzos, G. C. (2021). Improving IoT Federation Resiliency With Distributed Ledger Technology. *IEEE Access*, 9, 161695–161708. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3131143

- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).
  Qualitative Content Analysis: A Focus on Trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 4(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633</u>
- Eppich, W. J., Gormley, G. J., & Teunissen, P. W. (2019). In-depth interviews. *Healthcare Simulation Research: A Practical Guide*, 85-91.

Estrada-Jimenez, L. A., Pulikottil, T., Peres, R. S., Nikghadam-Hojjati, S., & Barata, J. (2021). Complexity theory and self-organization in Cyber-Physical Production Systems. *Procedia CIRP*, 104, 1831–1836.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2021.11.309

- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics, 5(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Farrugia, B. (2019). WASP (write a scientific paper): Sampling in qualitative research. *Early Human Development*, 133, 69–71.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016

- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001</u>
- Faturrohman, F., Syah, T. Y. R., Darmansyah, H. S., & Pusaka, S. (2018). Application of RBV Theory and McKinsey 7'S Model on Start-up Company. *Scientific Journal* of PPI-UKM, 5(1), 1-6.
- Favaretto, M., De Clercq, E., Gaab, J., & Elger, B. S. (2020). First do no harm: An exploration of researchers' ethics of conduct in Big Data behavioral studies. *Plos* one, 15(11), e0241865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0241865</u>
- Fernandez, A. A., & Shaw, G. P. (2017). Academic Leadership in a Time of Transformation: The Role of Organizational Structure. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, 17(4), 86-94.
- Fernandez-Vazquez, S., Rosillo, R., de la Fuente, D., & Puente, J. (2022). Blockchain in sustainable supply chain management: an application of the analytical hierarchical process (AHP) methodology. *Business Process Management Journal*, 28(5/6), 1277–1300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BPMJ-11-2021-0750</u>
- Feng, Q., He, D., Zeadally, S., Khan, M. K., & Kumar, N. (2019). A survey on privacy protection in blockchain system. *Journal of network and computer applications*, *126*, 45-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnca.2018.10.020</u>
- Fewings, P., & Henjewele, C. (2019). Construction project management: an integrated approach. Routledge.

Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3

Goldsby, C., & Hanisch, M. (2022). The Boon and Bane of Blockchain: Getting the Governance Right. *California Management Review*, 64(3), 141–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00081256221080747</u>

- Grysman, A., & Lodi-Smith, J. (2019). Methods for Conducting and Publishing Narrative Research With Undergraduates. *Frontiers in Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02771
- Haas, M. R. C., Munzer, B. W., Santen, S. A., Hopson, L. R., Haas, N. L., Overbeek, D., Peterson, W. J., Cranford, J. A., & Huang, R. D. (2019). #DidacticsRevolution: Applying Kotter's 8-Step Change Management Model to Residency Didactics. *The Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 21(1), 65–70.

https://doi.org/10.5811/westjem.2019.11.44510

- Hardwick, F., Akram, R. N., & Markantonakis, K. (2019). E-Voting with Blockchain: An E-Voting Protocol with Decentralisation and Voter Privacy. *IACR Cryptology ePrint Archive*, 2017, 1048. <u>https://eprint.iacr.org/2017/1048</u>
- Hartley, J. (2004). What is a Case Study?. *Essential guide to qualitative methods in organizational research*, 323.
- Hashem, I. A. T., Anuar, N. B., Gani, A., & Ullah, R. (2020). A comprehensive review on Infrastructure as a Service in cloud computing. *Journal of Ambient Intelligence and Humanized Computing*, 11(5), 2099-2119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12652-</u>

Hawlitschek, F., Notheisen, B., & Teubner, T. (2018). The limits of trust-free systems: A literature review on blockchain technology and trust in the sharing economy. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 29, 50-63.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2018.03.005

- Hayes, J. (2018). *The Theory and Practice of Change Management*. Palgrave. Hazari, S. S., & Mahmoud, Q. H. (2020). Improving transaction speed and scalability of blockchain systems via parallel proof of work. *Future internet*, *12*(8), 125. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/fi12080125">https://doi.org/10.3390/fi12080125</a>
- Hazari, S. S., & Mahmoud, Q. H. (2019, January). A parallel proof of work to improve transaction speed and scalability in blockchain systems. *In 2019 IEEE 9th annual computing and communication workshop and conference (CCWC)* (pp. 0916-0921). IEEE. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/CCWC.2019.8666535</u>
- Helmich, E., Boerebach, B. C. M., Arah, O. A., & Lingard, L. (2015). Beyond limitations: Improving how we handle uncertainty in health professions education research. *Medical Teacher*, 37, 1043-1050.

https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2015.1073239

Hemmeter, J., Donovan, M., Cobb, J., & Asbury, T. (2015). Long term earnings and disability program participation outcomes of the Bridges transition program. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 42(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-140719</u>

Hiatt, J. M., & Creasey, T. J. (2018). Change Management: The People Side of Change.

Prosci, Inc.

- Hong, J., & Cross Francis, D. (2020). Unpacking complex phenomena through qualitative inquiry: The case of teacher identity research. *Educational psychologist*, 55(4), 208-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2020.1783265</u>
- Hosseini, S., Phaal, R., & Newnes, L. (2020). Technology adoption: A review of the literature and classification. *Technovation*, 98, 102168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2020.102168</u>
- Hou, S. I. (2021). A Mixed Methods Process Evaluation of an Integrated Course Design on Teaching Mixed Methods Research. *International Journal for the Scholarship* of Teaching and Learning, 15(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.20429/ijsotl.2021.150208</u>
- Hyatt, J. M., & Lobmaier, P. P. (2020). Medication assisted treatment (MAT) in criminal justice settings as a double-edged sword: balancing novel addiction treatments and voluntary participation. *Health & Justice*, 8, 1-10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40352-020-0106-9

- Li, H., Li, Z., & Tian, N. (2020). Resource bottleneck analysis of the blockchain based on tron's tps. *In Advances in Natural Computation, Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery: Volume 2* (pp. 944-950). Springer International Publishing.
- Li, W., Guo, H., Nejad, M., & Shen, C. C. (2020). Privacy-preserving traffic management: A blockchain and zero-knowledge proof inspired approach. *IEEE* access, 8, 181733-181743. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3028189</u>
- Islam, M. N. (2023). Managing organizational change in responding to global crises. *Global Business and Organizational Excellence*, 42(3), 42-57.

- Izogo, E. E., & Jayawardhena, C. (2018). Online shopping experience in an emerging eretailing market: Towards a conceptual model. *Journal of consumer Behaviour*, 17(4), 379-392. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1715
- José Patrício Bispo Júnior. (2022). Social desirability bias in qualitative health research. *Revista de Saúde Pública*, 56. <u>https://doi.org/10.11606/s1518-</u> 8787.2022056004164
- Kallio, H., Pietilä, A., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semistructured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72(12), 2954–2965.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031
- Kamble, S. S., Gunasekaran, A., & Arha, H. (2019). Understanding the Blockchain technology adoption in supply chains-Indian context. *International Journal of Production Research*, 57(7), 2009-2033.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1518610

- Kerzner, H. (2017). Project management: A systems approach to planning, scheduling, and controlling (12th ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Kettunen, J., & Tynjälä, P. (2018). Applying phenomenography in guidance and counselling research. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 46(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2017.1285006</u>
- Khan, D., Jung, L. T., & Hashmani, M. A. (2021). Systematic literature review of challenges in blockchain scalability. *Applied Sciences*, 11(20), 9372. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app11209372</u>

- Khan, M. A., & Al-Yasiri, A. (2020). Cloud computing: concepts, architectures and challenges. In Cloud Computing for Enterprise Architectures (pp. 3-32). Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-45705-7\_1</u>
- Köhler, T., Smith, A., & Bhakoo, V. (2022). Templates in qualitative research methods:
  Origins, limitations, and new directions. *Organizational Research Methods*, 25(2), 183–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428121106071</u>
- Kruger, W. (2022). Summary of the Change Iceberg by Kruger.

https://www.valuebasedmanagement.net/methods\_change\_management\_iceberg

- Krueger, F. (2017). Change management theory: A practical approach for managing change within organizations. *Journal of Change Management*, *17*(2), 123-139.
- Kuhn, R., Yaga, D., & Voas, J. (2019). Rethinking Distributed Ledger Technology. Computer, 52(2), 68–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MC.2019.2898162</u>
- Kshetri, N. (2018). 1 Blockchain's roles in meeting key supply chain management objectives. *International Journal of Information Management*, 39, 80-89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.12.005
- Kuo, T. T., Kim, H. E., & Ohno-Machado, L. (2019). Blockchain distributed ledger technologies for biomedical and health care applications. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 24(6), 1211-1220.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocx068

Kwon, Y., Kim, H., Son, Y., & Kim, Y. (2020). A survey on the consensus mechanisms of blockchain: Fundamentals, taxonomy, and future directions. *Information Sciences*, 539, 105-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2020.06.004</u>

- Kyngäs, H. (2020). Qualitative research and content analysis. *The application of content analysis in nursing science research*, 3-11.
- Johnson, J. L., Adkins, D., & Chauvin, S. (2020). A Review of the Quality Indicators of Rigor in Qualitative Research. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 84(1), 138–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7120</u>
- Laig, R. B. D., & Abocejo, F. T. (2021). Change management process in a mining company: Kotter's 8-Step change model. *Journal of Management, Economics,* and Industrial Organization, 5(3), 31-50.

Leflar Jr, James J. Change Management for Risk Professionals. CRC Press, 2021.

- Liu, Y. (2022). Paradigmatic Compatibility Matters: A Critical Review of Qualitative-Quantitative Debate in Mixed Methods Research. SAGE Open, 12(1), 21582440221079922. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221079922</u>
- Liu, F., Tong, J., & Mao, J. (2020). A survey on Software as a Service: architecture, challenges and practices. *Journal of Network and Systems Management*, 28(1), 4-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10922-019-09505-3</u>
- Lin, I. C., Shen, F. M., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Blockchain for the IoT and industrial IoT: A review. *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, 7(4), 2448-2463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/JIOT.2019.2917064</u>
- L. A. Gladkova, & I. V. Gordeev. (2022). The role of time management in the selforganisation of the individual within an effective self-marketing model. *Вестник Университета*, 9, 5–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.26425/1816-4277-2022-9-5-13</u>

Nakamoto, S. (2008). Bitcoin: A peer-to-peer electronic cash system.

- Naveed Taimoor, Ikramullah Khosa, Muhammad Jawad, Jahanzeb Akhtar, Imran Ghous,
   Muhammad Bilal Qureshi, Ali R. Ansari, & Raheel Nawaz. (2020). Power Outage
   Estimation: The Study of Revenue-Led Top Affected States of U.S. *IEEE Access*,
   8, 223271–223286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3043630</u>
- Namey, E., Guest, G., Thairu, L., & Johnson, L. (2018). Data reduction techniques for large qualitative data sets. Handbook for Team-Based Qualitative Research, 137-162.

https://www.altamirapress.com/Catalog/MultiLevelLookup.asp?level=070+130+1 40+590&isbn=978-0-7591-0978-3&stype=TOC

- Neiheiser, R., Inacio, G., Rech, L., Montez, C., Matos, M., & Rodrigues, L. (2023).
  Practical Limitations of Ethereum's Layer-2. *IEEE Access*, *11*, 8651–8662.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2023.3237897</u>
- Nguyen, G. T., Kim, K., & Srivastava, G. (2021). Consensus Algorithms in Blockchain: State-of-the-Art, Taxonomy, and Trends. *IEEE Access*, 9, 3637-3666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3046901</u>
- Nili, A., Tate, M., Barros, A., & Johnstone, D. (2020). An approach for selecting and using a method of inter-coder reliability in information management research. *International Journal of Information Management*, 54, 102154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102154
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, *16*(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>

Madsen, S., Stenheim, T., & Madsen, E. L. (2020). Change management in information technology projects for public organizations: Factors affecting project success. *Project Management Journal*, 51(4), 389-401.

https://doi.org/10.1177/8756972820923893

Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample Size in Qualitative Interview Studies: Guided by Information Power. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1753–1760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315617444</u>

- Matei, Ștefania, Rughinis, R., & Rosner, D. (2017). Linkedin as a Research Companion.
   Assessing the Learning Benefits of an Entrepreneurial Program through a Quasi-Experimental Approach. *ELearning & Software for Education*, *1*, 464–471.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.12753/2066-026X-17-068">https://doi.org/10.12753/2066-026X-17-068</a>
- Mattke, J., Maier, C., Reis, L., & Weitzel, T. (2021). Bitcoin investment: A mixed methods study of investment motivations. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 30(3), 261–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0960085X.2020.1787109</u>
- McCabe, J. L., & Holmes, D. (2009). Reflexivity, critical qualitative research and emancipation: A Foucauldian perspective. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 65(7), 1518-1526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.04978.x</u>
- Mikkelsen, M. F., & Plotnikof, M. (2021). Beyond the borders: A critical review of organizational change and transition management. *International Journal of Public Leadership*, 17(1), 25-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPL-06-2020-0027</u>
- Mishra, A., Nayak, J. K., & Patra, S. (2020). An integrated project quality management framework for Indian construction industry. *International Journal of Construction*

Management, 20(1), 60-72. https://doi.org/10.1080/15623599.2018.1502675

- Mollah, M. B., Karim, A., & Rahman, M. S. (2021). A comprehensive survey on blockchain technology, challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 180, 102975. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnca.2021.102975</u>
- Monteiro, E., Constantinides, P., Scott, S., Shaikh, M., & Burton-Jones, A. (2022).
  Qualitative Research Methods in Information Systems: A Call for Phenomenon-Focused Problematization. *MIS Quarterly*, 46(4), iii–xviii.
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. Journal of emergency nursing, 45(1), 103-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004</u>
- Mora, C., Rollins, R. L., Taladay, K., Kantar, M. B., & Franklin, E. R. (2021). Bitcoin emissions in China exceed the total emissions of mid-sized European countries.
   *Nature Communications*, 12(1), 604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26932-6</u>
- Mora, C., Rollins, R. L., Taladay, K., Kantar, M. B., Chock, M. K., Shimada, M., & Franklin, E. C. (2018). Bitcoin emissions alone could push global warming above 2°C. Nature Climate Change, 8(11), 931-933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-</u>018-0321-8
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212-1222.
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research.Part
  3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*,
  24(1), 9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091</u>

Motulsky, S. L. (2021). Is member checking the gold standard of quality in qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 389–406.

https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000215

- Muduli, A., & Trivedi, J. J. (2020). Recruitment methods, recruitment outcomes and information credibility and sufficiency. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 27(4), 1615-1631. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-07-2019-0312</u>
- O'Connor, C., & Joffe, H. (2020). Intercoder reliability in qualitative research: debates and practical guidelines. *International journal of qualitative methods*, *19*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919899220</u>
- Oswald, A. G. (2019). Improving outcomes with Qualitative Data Analysis Software: A reflective journey. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(3), 436–442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017744860</u>
- Paparini, S., Green, J., Papoutsi, C., Murdoch, J., Petticrew, M., Greenhalgh, T., & Shaw,
  S. (2020). Case study research for better evaluations of complex interventions:
  rationale and challenges. *BMC medicine*, *18*(1), 1-6.
- Peng, T., Lu, X., & Zhang, Q. (2021). Network Resilience: A Systematic Review. *IEEE* Access, 9, 33161-33175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3057386</u>
- Raineri, A. B. (2017). Change management in large enterprises and SMEs: A comparison of theories, models, and frameworks. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 30(4), 327-344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-08-2015-0139</u>
- Rapport, F., & Hughes, S. E. (2020). Frameworks for change in hearing research:Valuing qualitative methods in the real world. *Ear and Hearing*, *41*, 91S-98S.

- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 18, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424</u>
- Saberi, S., Kouhizadeh, M., Sarkis, J., & Shen, L. (2019). Blockchain technology and its relationships to sustainable supply chain management. *International Journal of Production Research*, 57(7), 2117-2135.
- Sabalionis, A., Wang, W., & Park, H. (2021). What affects the price movements in Bitcoin and Ethereum? *The Manchester School*, 89(1), 102. https://doi.org/10.1111/manc.12352
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., ... & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893-1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers (3rd ed.)*. SAGE Publications.
- Scannell, D., Desens, L., Guadagno, M., Tra, Y., Acker, E., Sheridan, K., Rosner, M.,
  Mathieu, J., & Fulk, M. (2021). COVID-19 Vaccine Discourse on Twitter: A
  Content Analysis of Persuasion Techniques, Sentiment and Mis/Disinformation.
  Journal of Health Communication, 26(7), 443–459.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2021.1955050

Selvi, A. F. (2019). Qualitative content analysis. In The Routledge handbook of research methods in applied linguistics (pp. 440-452). Routledge.

- Serrat, O. (2017). Unfreezing change as three steps: Rethinking Kurt Lewin's legacy for change management. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 30(4), 610-621. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOCM-11-2016-0219
- Shamay-Tsoory, S. G., & Mendelsohn, A. (2019). Real-life neuroscience: an ecological approach to brain and behavior research. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 14(5), 841-859. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691619856350</u>
- Silverman, D. (2017). *Doing qualitative research (5th ed.)*. SAGE Publications.
- Sinha, D., & Roy Chowdhury, S. (2021). Blockchain-based smart contract for international business–a framework. *Journal of Global Operations and Strategic Sourcing*, 14(1), 224-260.
- Špundak, M., & Šeric, M. (2019). The impact of change management practices on information technology project success. *Business Systems Research Journal*, 10(2), 54-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/bsrj-2019-0014</u>
- Sreenu, M., Gupta, N., Jatoth, C., Saad, A., Alharbi, A., & Nkenyereye, L. (2022). Blockchain based secure and reliable Cyber Physical ecosystem for vaccine supply chain. *Computer Communications*, 191, 173–183.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.com.2022.04.031

Sridharan, V. G. (2021). Methodological Insights Theory development in qualitative management control: Revisiting the roles of triangulation and generalization. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 34*(2), 451-479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-09-2019-4177</u>

Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding Approaches for Research: Understanding

and Using Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26–28.

- Stoecker, R., & Avila, E. (2021). From mixed methods to strategic research design. International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice, 24(6), 627–640. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1799639</u>
- Subiyanto, R., & Hatammimi, J. (2023). Implementing integrated marketing solutions in business transformation using the McKinsey 7s framework. *International Journal* of Research In Business and Social Science, 12(3).

https://doi.org/10.20525/ijrbs.v12i3.2425

- Suri, N., & Pal, R. (2020). Enhancing the resilience of cyber-physical systems. Journal of Network and Computer Applications, 159, 102641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnca.2020.102641
- Szedlak, C., Smith, M. J., Callary, B., & Day, M. C. (2019). Using written, audio, and video vignettes to translate knowledge to elite strength and conditioning coaches. *International Sport Coaching Journal*, 6(2), 199-210.

https://doi.org/10.1123/iscj.2018-0027

Tapscott, D., & Tapscott, A. (2016). Blockchain revolution: How the technology behind bitcoin is changing money, business, and the world. Penguin.

Tarhini, A., Elyas, T., Akour, M. A., & Al-Salti, Z. (2021). Factors affecting employees' acceptance of e-learning systems in higher education in developing countries: The case of Jordan. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(1), 759-782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10321-0</u>
Tariq, A., & Aslam, M. (2020). Database backup and recovery. In Advanced Database Systems (pp. 303-324). Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-</u> 47497-4\_11

Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2019). Limitations And Delimitations In The Research Process. *Perioperative nursing* (GORNA), 7(3), 155–162. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.2552022

- Tiron-Tudor, A., Deliu, D., Farcane, N., & Dontu, A. (2021). Managing change with and through blockchain in accountancy organizations: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*.
- Tschorsch, F., & Scheuermann, B. (2016). Bitcoin and beyond: A technical survey on decentralized digital currencies. *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials*, 18(3), 2084-2123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/COMST.2016.2535718</u>
- Tuval-Mashiach, R. (2021). Is replication relevant for qualitative research?. *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000217</u>

Van der Walt, J. L. (2020). Interpretivism-constructivism as a research method in the humanities and social sciences-more to it than meets the eye. *International Journal of Philosophy and Theology*, 8(1), 59-68. https://doi.org/10.15640/ijpt.v8n1a5

Velmovitsky, P. E., Bublitz, F. M., Fadrique, L. X., & Morita, P. P. (2021). Blockchain applications in health care and public health: increased transparency. *JMIR* 

Medical Informatics, 9(6), e20713. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/20713</u>

Vlasenko, T., Hatsko, A., Larina, T., Hryn, Y., Streimikiene, D., & Balezentis, T. (2019).

Fuzzy evaluation of change management processes in the context of enterprise sustainability. *Sustainability*, *11*(22), 6310.

- Wang, S, & Franke, U. (2020). Enterprise IT service downtime cost and risk transfer in a supply chain. *Operations Management Research*, 13, 94–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12063-020-00148-x</u>
- Wang, W., Wu, Q., Yang, J., Dong, K., Chen, X., Bai, X., ... & Yu, H. (2020). Global, regional, and national estimates of target population sizes for covid-19 vaccination: Descriptive study. *BMJ*, 371.<u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m4704</u>
- Weber, R. M. (2018). An Advisor's Introduction to Blockchain. Journal of Financial Service Professionals, 72(6), 49–53.
- Whitney, D., Trosten-Bloom, A., & Vianello, M. G. (2019). Appreciative inquiry:Positive action research. *In Action learning and action research: Genres and approaches*. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Wilden, R., & Gudergan, S. P. (2020). The impact of dynamic capabilities on operational marketing and technological capabilities: Investigating the role of environmental turbulence. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 48(1), 138-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-019-00649-5</u>

Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? *Social Science Computer Review*, 34(5), 597-617. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439315596311</u>

Worley, C. G., & Mohrman, S. A. (2014). Is Change Management Obsolete? Organizational Dynamics, 43(3), 214-224.

- Wozney, L., Turner, K., Rose-Davis, B., & McGrath, P. J. (2019). Facebook ads to the rescue? Recruiting a hard to reach population into an Internet-based behavioral health intervention trial. *Internet Interventions*, 17. <u>https://doi.org/1100246</u>
- Xu, A., Baysari, M. T., Stocker, S. L., Leow, L. J., Day, R. O., & Carland, J. E. (2020).
  Researchers' views on, and experiences with, the requirement to obtain informed consent in research involving human participants: a qualitative study. *BMC medical ethics*, 21(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00538-7</u>
- Yang, X., Zhang, Y., Wang, S., Yu, B., Li, F., Li, Y., & Yan, W. (2020). LedgerDB: A centralized ledger database for universal audit and verification. *Proceedings of the VLDB Endowment*, 13(12), 3138-3151.

https://doi.org/10.14778/3415478.3415540

- Yermack, D. (2017). Corporate governance and blockchains. Review of Finance, 21(1), 7-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/rof/rfw074</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and application: Design and method* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sage.
- Zacharias, T., Rahawarin, M. A., & Yusriadi, Y. (2021). Cultural reconstruction and organization environment for employee performance. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Studies*, 8(2), 296-315. <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/ejecs/801</u>
- Zhang, R., Xue, R., & Liu, L. (2019). Security and privacy on blockchain. *ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR)*, 52(3), 1-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3316481</u>
- Zohar, A. (2020). Bitcoin under the hood. *Communications of the ACM*, 63(7), 86-96. https://doi.org/10.1145/3386331

Zou, Debiao he, Zeadally, S., Kumar, N., Huaqun Wang, & Choo, K. R. (2022).

Integrated Blockchain and Cloud Computing Systems: A Systematic Survey,

Solutions, and Challenges. ACM Computing Surveys, 54(8), 1–36.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3456628